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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

YA 5 4 2

For the year ended 31 March 2015 2= —AF=A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E—FEF —EF-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Proceeds from disposals of financial assets HERATEFAEEZEEZ
at fair value through profit or loss BMKEEZRBNRE 241,340 96,364
Revenue N 227 257

Loss for the year attributable to owners of RKANREEAEBEREE

the Company & (88,885) (89,215)
2015 2014
—E-HF —E—F
(represented)
(&%)
Net asset value per share BREEFE HK$0.023 %7t  HK$0.0187 7T
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of China Investment
Development Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “"Group”) for the year ended 31 March
2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in investment
holding for medium to long-term capital appreciation purposes,
and investment in listed and unlisted securities. There have been
no significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal

activities during the year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2015 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 35 of the annual report. The
directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the

year.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the

year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company

are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 39 and in note 24 to the consolidated

financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2015, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company
had no reserves available for distribution to shareholders (2014:
HKS$NIl).

P

EERETERERABAERAR(ARE]) REHK
BRARA(SHE [ AEENBAE_T—HF=A=+—
R FEZ FREEECEAMBERE

FTEXEH
ARAREMBRAZEB I AEREANESHH
ERMEREE UMKRELTMRIFLTES - F
N ARBZETREBHETERSEAES -

FRERDIK
AEEBE_T-RAF-A=T-HLEFEZXEE
BRAFREBAZFAERREBE2EKRERD -
EETEARAFEIRNBE -

k- BERRE

EEME BERZBERAFEZEBFBENET
AU HmEMIFES -
% K

ARBEERBBEITRAHBENEAMBEEREK
BFE23

i
REBRARBRAFE 2 HHEEBFF D HIER
FIWAZGFARREBR LR EWHERERMTE24 -

] 73 e
R-T—RF=A=+—0 EERA FAFALE
ASETRR 2 EE(ZB—HE BT -
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
L& b e

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is engaged in investment holding for medium to
long-term capital appreciation purposes, and investment in listed
and unlisted securities, there are no major customers and suppliers

during the year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 128. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial

statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Wong Chak Keung (Resigned on 25 April 2014)
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Yin

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix
Mr. Leung Wing Kin
Mr. Leung Chi Kong

In accordance with Bye-law 153, Mr. Fong Wo Felix and Mr. Leung
Wing Kin will retire at the AGM and, being eligible, offer

themselves for re-election thereat.

Each of the non-executive directors’ terms of office is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general

meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 29 to 32 of the

annual report.

6 Annual Report &5 2015
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS

IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2015, the interests and short positions held by the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, the "SFO") as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
"Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)

were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the

Company

H

EERFERTRAEBRKRMD HERHOR
BERER

R-ZBE-RF=A=+—H EFRERAEELT
BABRARRREMBREE (EEREFLHERK
BI(TE xR EE G ) EXVED) 2 kty - BRI D
HERETHEEDRALR 77@%}% &7 M B 56

FINGEFEZBCMERLKE - IRBEEE
BARZGAARAB(BIMDES EMAANT L

MR DMEI0ME LW ETAERETESFRZS
IR A ([BRETRI D ESTHEARR R RER
PRz R FORBIT

FARRORERRG 2 HFA

Number of shares/underlying shares held

sk, HEROHE
Number
of shares
Capacity in Number issuable Approximate
Name of Directors/ which interests of shares on Share Total percentage of
chief executive are held held options held interests  shareholding
B FEEREZ 1 iR
FETBAEHSR BEEREZED FEROEE BITROBE s BHBEDE
(Note 2) (Note 1)
(Hfez2) (FfaE 1)
Mr. Chen Yin (note 3) Interest of controlled 1,026,320,000 — 1,026,320,000 12.30%
BRIELSE A (FY5E 3) corporation
REHom s ER
Beneficial owner - 27,300,000 27,300,000 0.33%
BEmBEEA
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix Beneficial owner - 30,000,000 30,000,000 0.36%
FREE BEmBEEA
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee Beneficial owner - 81,100,000 81,100,000 0.97%

REZELLE

BEmBEEA

Annual Report &5 2015 7
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
L& b e

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

EERFERTRAEBRKRMD HERHOR
R s (F)

FARRGREBERD 2T R (F)

Number of shares/underlying shares held

FrismR 4, AR R 02 E
Number
of shares

Capacity in Number issuable Approximate
Name of Directors/ which interests of shares on Share Total percentage of
chief executive are held held options held interests  shareholding
B FFBRE 1B
FETBAEHSR BEEEZED FEROEE FRTROEE s BMAOBEDL

(Note 2) (Note 1)
(Bt 2) (Kzt 1)

Mr. Leung Wing Kin Beneficial owner - 10,000,000 10,000,000 0.12%
RofE Rt BEmBEEA
Mr. Leung Chi Kong Beneficial owner - 20,000,000 20,000,000 0.24%
25 = BEmBEEA
Mr. Zhang Xuming (note 4)  Interest of controlled 722,640,000 - 722,640,000 8.66%
SRABBA ST A (ATt 4) corporation

el NCIg: £

Beneficial owner - 81,100,000 81,100,000 0.97%

BEmBEEA
Notes: B

8

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the
Company'’s issued share capital of 8,342,514,870 shares as at 31
March 2015.

The relevant interests are share options granted pursuant to the
Company’s share option scheme adopted on 9 April 2009 (the
"Scheme”). Upon exercise of the share options in accordance with
the Scheme, ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each in the share capital of
the Company are issuable. The share options are personal to the
respective Directors and the holders thereof are entitled to subscribe
for shares of the Company.

Mr. Chen Yin is deemed to have interest in 1,026,320,000 shares in

the Company held by Micah Holdings Limited Investments Limited, a
private company wholly-owned by Ms. Ji Jie, the spouse of Mr. Chen.

Annual Report &5 2015

1. BEEALEARAR-E-RFZAS+-AZ
OB 1TRR A 8,342,514, 870 B AR D st E 1B 1 -

2. FERmDBREBEAATR -_ZTNFOANBRRZ
FRRRERT I (TR ) B Z BB B - 1T ERIRET 8
B2 BBARER - AT AR R IR A S EE0.001
B BBk - BRERAREHESEASE  KF
ANEEBBARR R

3. [ &l %% 4 4% 4% VE HA Micah Holdings Limited (—ZX H1
BRAECZERBERLX T2 EERBEZIRAERA
A1) FH 2 1,026,320,000 A A2 B B& 19 R B A 2
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the
Company (continued)

4. Mr. Zhang Xuming, the chief executive officer of the Company, is
deemed to have interest in the 722,640,000 shares held by Salus
Investments Limited, a company wholly and beneficially owned by

him.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The detailed disclosures relating to the Company’s share option
scheme and valuation of options are set out in note 25 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2015, the following persons, other than a Director or
chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

H

EERFERTRAEBREMD AEAROK
R s (F)

FARRGREBERD 2T R (F)

4. AN AT R A E R B A B R R A 0 Salus
Investments Limited (— X HAHE2EEHHA 2 A7)
F5 72 722,640,000 AR {7 o 85 e s -

B EXEEEN  R-T-—RAF=A=1+—H &%
HARAEBITHRA BBUEN AR B 2 CH (] FaH
EE(ERZRBHRHEEMIEXVE) 2kfn - 107
Py B - B RARNRRIRIEE &L
EEPIEI2GAEFE 2 B MABEFETE S
TTHEARE NPTz msRR

BT
BRARRBEES B R B GE FAREE
R ER & 1 15 R M2 25 -

FERR

RZBE-RAF=A=+—H REFHIEAQTAES
TTBABSIN - WIRIEFE SR RAEGIIFE 336 FAFE
ZERMATRE - 58 RR R RABR AR () 5% 3
A ERSmIORR 2 AL

Approximate

Capacity in which Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholders Interests are held Shares held shareholding
BREE,EHB BEEEZED RGO EE ERESOED L
(Note 2) (Note 1)
(KtzE2) (Mtatt)
Micah Holdings Limited (note 2) Beneficial owner 1,026,320,000 12.30%
Micah Holdings Limited (f15#2) BEREAA
JiJie Interest of controlled 1,026,320,000 12.30%
= R corporation
RSN R R
Salus Investments Limited (note 3) Beneficial owner 722,640,000 8.66%

Salus Investments Limited (#7:%3) EmEAA

Annual Report &5 2015 9
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
L& b e

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Notes:

1. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the
Company's issued share capital of 8,342,514,870 shares as at 31
March 2015.

2. Micah Holdings Limited, a private limited company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands, and wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Ji
Jie.

3. Salus Investments Limited, a private limited company incorporated in

the British Virgin Islands, and wholly and beneficially owned by Mr.
Zhang Xuming, the chief executive officer of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2015, the Company was
not notified of any persons, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, having any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ interests in
shares, underlying shares and debentures” above, at no time
during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or of any
other body corporate granted to any Directors or their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors, their respective
spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire such rights in

the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business of the
Group to which the Company was a party during or at the end of
the year.

10  Annal Report %% 2015
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment

of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes or
may cause a significant competition with the business of the Group
and any other conflicts of interest which any such person has or

may have with the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SHARES
During the year, the Company had not purchased, sold or

redeemed any of its listed securities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2015.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group's employees are selected, remunerated and promoted

based on their merit, qualifications and competence.

The Company adopted the model set out in Code Provision B.1.2(c)
(ii) of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its remuneration model
for determining the emoluments of the Directors. This model
stipulates that the remuneration committee shall make
recommendations to the board of the Company (the “Board”) on
the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and
senior management. The remuneration committee of the Company
would take into consideration, among other things, the duties and
responsibilities of the Directors and senior management and

prevailing market conditions when determining their remuneration.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme to provide
incentives to eligible persons, including directors, employees,
consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group. Details of the
scheme are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
L& b e

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company set up an Audit Committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. Amongst other
duties, the principal duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control of
the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Fong Wo,
Felix, Mr. Leung Wing Kin and Mr. Leung Chi Kong is the Chairman.
The audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2015 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

AUDITOR

During the year ended 31 March 2013, HLM & Co. resigned as
auditors of the Company and BDO Limited was appointed as the
Company'’s auditor to fill the casual vacancy. For the year ended 31
March 2015, the consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been audited by BDO Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution to re-
appoint BDO Limited as auditor of the Company will be proposed
to the shareholders of the Company for approval at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Chen Yin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2015

12 Annual Report F5 2015
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2015 was
approximately HK$227,000, which represented a decrease of
approximately 11.67% when compared with that of last year. The
Group incurred a loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company amounting to approximately HK$88,885,000, which was
decreased by approximately HK$330,000 or 0.37% when compared
with the loss of approximately HK$89,215,000 incurred in last year.
The Group's revenue represents interest income from convertible
bonds. The net asset value per share of the Group as at 31 March
2015 amounted to HK$0.023 (2014 (represented): HK$0.018). The
Board has decided not to declare a dividend for the year.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
As at 31 March 2015, the details of all investments of the Group

were summarised as below:

Interests in an associate

PRI i B 23 B

MEEE

HEZT—AF=-A=1+—BLFE FA£EKH
#)/227,0008 7T - WEAFRMD411.67% - NEEE
ERRDEHEE NG FE E5184) 88,885,000 48 7T -
2 F 4F BT E A JE5 1840 89,215,000 7T 2 £9 330,000
B Irel037% c AEBMMEIEATRRES 2 Fl B
A RZE—AF=ZA=+—R0 AEEEREETF
B/0.023%E (=T —WF (F%]) : 00188m) - =

FEATERAFESRRE °

=Y

?ﬁﬁn é
R-B-RE=A=1—R AEBFEREHE
B

R—RBE DTz s

Place of Percentage  Proportion
incorporation/ of effective of voting Carrying
Name of investee company operation interest held power Cost value
M BB RER
BEEREARER EiE i B EEEDL ] A REE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THETT
Bonicast Construction Material People’s Republic 49% 20% 6,080 6,084
(Beijing) Co., Ltd ("Bonicast”) of China ("PRC")
SEEFEEMH LR AR AR hEE ARKAE
(rasmEED (TE )
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PRI kB 23 By

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(i) Investment in convertible bonds

i) RERTRERES

BAVERAEESRECMBEE

Carrying
Name of investee company Place of incorporation Cost Value
BEZREVFER 11 AR AL 3t B 5% fREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THTT THETT
Guanwan Investments Limited British Virgin Islands 20,000 21,832
BEREFRAT REERES
(i) Investment in Hong Kong listed equity securities (i) RERBEBLTRAERS
Percentage
Number of of interests Market
Name of investee companies shares held held Cost value
Fr¥s
BEZREARER FEROHE #EEEGL A e
HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THETT
Citic Limited 30,000 0.0001% 482 398
FEFERHBR AR
China Fiber Optic Network System Group Limited 600,000 0.0344% 1,453 1,260
PN EBREGEEFR LA
Maanshan Iron & Steel Company Limited 150,000 0.0019% 357 335
B LM AR AR
Echo International Holdings Group Limited 2,792,000 1.3960% 5,040 4,691
B (ER)EREEBRAF
CSR Corporation Limited 60,000 0.0004% 576 614

FEIEERDARAA]
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRI i B 23 B

Available-for-sale Financial Assets AHENKEE
Percentage
Place of of effective Carrying
Name of investee companies incorporation interests held Cost Value
iEsd
BEIRENTAEH SE 1 B 3 3t B EEESL B FREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Tianjin Bao Xin Ying Precious Metals PRC 12.00% 6,590 10,088
Management Limited H
REESRESBLE2ARAA
GuangZhou Shi Da Jian Credit Guarantee Limited PRC 11.59% 9,800 7,417
BT EREREREGRAF &
China Petroleum Bio-Energy Company Limited Hong Kong 5.69% 24,400 27,911
RISHREMERER AR 5B
Yenbo Gain Limited BVI 18.18% 13,092 16,125
BBNERAR] HRBERES
FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES £EEY

On 20 August 2014, the Company entered into a placing
agreement for placing of up to 22,000,000 new shares of the
Company at a price of HK$1.45 per placing share. The placing was
completed on 29 August 2014. The net proceeds from the placing,
after deducting the placing fees and other expenses incidental to
the placing, was approximately HK$31,600,000. The aggregate
nominal value of the placing shares issued was HK$220,000. The
proceeds have been mainly utilized as refundable deposits paid for

potential investments up to 31 March 2015.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2015, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$2,193,000 (2014: approximately HK$73,083,000).
The Group had net current assets and the net assets of
approximately HK$120,721,000 (2014: HK$120,251,000) and
approximately HK$189,067,000 (2014: HK$141,829,000) respectively
as at 31 March 2015. Save as disclosed above, the Group had no
bank and other borrowing as at 31 March 2015.

The current ratio, calculated on the basis of total current assets over
total current liabilities, was approximately 110.95 (2014: 38.6) at 31
March 2015.

R-ZZE—NENAZFH ARGV ESHE &
BRELE R 1.4578 7T 2 (BAR Bl & & % 22,000,000 fi%
AATRFRD - BEZTBEEN_Z—HNFNA=T1
BEX - RNBRELEEEEFE EEEAREM
FZ i » Bl B8 2 PT5 FIEF EE 4973 31,600,000 78
TC o FTEEATRR & 1) 2 4B (B 5 220,000 7T - E &
—E-REZA=+—HB FIBRBEXEHREEE
BEZEMNATREKRS -

MBERRRBES
R-E—RAF=—A=+—8 A£EEREEES
Z{EY#) 2,193,000 7T (= F — P04 : £973,083,000
BIL) c RZE—RAF=A=+—H AEEZRT
BEFELEEFED 120,721,008 T (=F
—PO4F 120,251,000 7T ) K #189,067,000 74 7T (=
T U4 : 141,829,000 7T) © Br EXXCHEFEEIN - R
ZE—RF=A=+—H8 AEEWEBITREA
BE -

R-ZE—AF=ZA=+—H8 "RPLXRERBHEE
BERARDBEAETE) A R11095(=ZF—0
4 138.6)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PRI kB 23 By

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details in the changes of the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2015 are set out in note 23 to the
consolidated financial statements. The capital of the Company

comprises only ordinary shares as at 31 March 2015.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the business transactions of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The management of the Group
will closely monitor the fluctuation in these currencies and take
appropriate actions when needed. As at 31 March 2015, the Group
did not engage in currency hedging nor did it adopt any formal
hedging activities. The Group had not entered into any financial
derivatives in currencies other than Hong Kong dollars during the

year.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES
As at 31 March 2015, there were no charges on the Group's assets

and the Group did not have any contingent liabilities.

STAFF COST

The Group's total staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)
amounted to approximately HK$20,816,000 (2014: HK$17,751,000),
including equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors
and employee in the amount of approximately HK$15,807,000
(2014: HK$13,275,000) for the year ended 31 March 2015. The
employees were remunerated based on their responsibilities and

performance.

PROSPECT

Economic development around the globe will remain complicated
in 2015. Economies in different regions may continue to go
separate ways with intertwined risks. The PRC market will continue
to be the Group's prime concern. Despite the persistent slowdown
of economic growth in the PRC, the national economy will grow
even more sophisticated as sustainable development has become
increasingly essential to various segments. Besides, with the
implementation of the state strategy “One Belt One Road” and the
introduction of “Internet Plus” concept, new growth points will
keep emerging. Believing more investment opportunities will arise
in the sectors benefiting from the economic transformation of the
PRC, the Company will maintain prudent optimism toward

investments and commit capital in a timely fashion.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of investments, as mentioned in the interim report, the
Company will continue to explore and further diversify into the new
energy market. The Company’s biomass energy project is situated in
the Xinjiang region which is designated as a core district under the
policy of “One Belt One Road” and will enjoy further support from
both the central government and the local government under that
policy. At the same time, the Company believes that the new energy
sector, being a pillar industry with economic sustainability, is
accessible to vigorous assistance from the PRC government under
the industry-specific policy. Accordingly, the Company will capitalize
on this dual opportunity to press ahead with the development of the

project.

While developing the new energy business, the Company will also
actively explore other emerging industries. The PRC government
floated the “Internet Plus” action plan in the Report on the Work of
the Government in March. It is the first time internet was
highlighted in such proportion, accentuating the importance of
internet in the economic transformation. The Company was quick
to ride on the market trend by investing in Letao, a well-known
e-commerce platform of footwear in the PRC, thereby tapping the
internet business covering e-commerce as well as the online to
offline (020) segments. The Company believes that the O20
model promoted by Letao may reshape the relationship between
supply chain and marketing. It will facilitate not only a smooth
integration of online and offline trading but also a reorganization of
the supply chain as well as a redefinition of marketing. Looking
ahead, the Company will continue to identify more web-based
companies with potential like Letao as the investees that can

contribute satisfactory return for shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of
the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.

PRI i B 23 B

REREITH - AT HREIREA - AR B
BRI MARBFEIREE - RRIARENEWEEE
RERMUAFELR  BR[—& 8] HREEN
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EBNEEARBEERNEEI T WBEERFE
FEIBFERTTREBERBER MO DRSS - Bt
REFIUEHLEENEREREE - FNHEERE
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M FTEITE « SE3 AMHBIEN TIERE &5RIEE
[BHE+ ] BS  EREMMAESE —REBNIIERS
FRBENEARENBRIMBZENME - ALLRET
EMBTEEABEELRNEEN - Bl - AR
ZIREMSHW - AARETHEERNEXSH
Fa 8RR LR ERARRRBREFES
TTEXFREEF LE T 020 3, (Online to Offline) 1
SR EHAEEE - ARRE  BLARMEENZLE
BTHEAAEEHEEMEHER  O20EAXT
EBREK MG TEIRG AL R REEAE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A E R R

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company and is committed to adopting the
standards of corporate governance. It is in the interest of the
shareholders and stakeholders for a listed company to operate in a
transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory
policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms with a clear
definition of accountability of directors and management. The
Company and the Directors confirm, to the best of their knowledge,
that the Company has complied with the Code of Corporate
Governance practices (the “CG Code") as set out in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2015, except

the deviation disclosed in the following paragraph:

Code Provision A.6.7

The code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code states that independent
non-executive directors should also attend general meetings and
develop a balanced understanding of the views of shareholders.
Three independent non-executive Directors were eligible but
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 25 August 2014 (the "2014 AGM") due to other important

engagement.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board comprises executive Directors, non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors during the year and up

to the date of this report as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Wong Chak Keung (Resigned on 25 April 2014)
Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Yin

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix
Mr. Leung Wing Kin
Mr. Leung Chi Kong
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The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s businesses, investment and
strategic decisions and performance. The executive Board,
investment manager and senior management have been delegated
with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-
day operations of the Group while reserving certain key matters for
the approval by the Board. In addition, the Board has also
delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees. Further
details of these Board committees are set out in this Corporate

Governance Report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board and has met recommended practice under the
Code for the Board to have at least one-third of its members
comprising independent non-executive Directors. The biographical
information of the existing Directors is set out on pages 29 to 32
under the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors and

Senior Management”.

Chairman

The role of the chairman of the Company takes the lead in
formulating overall strategies and policies of the Group; ensures
the effective performance by the Board of its functions, including
compliance with good corporate governance practices and
encourages and facilitates active contribution of directors in Board
activities. The Chairman also ensures that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at Board meetings and have received
adequate, complete and reliable information in a timely manner

with the assistance of the company secretary.

Executive Directors

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the
Group’s management team in accordance with the directions set
by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal
control system is in place and the Group's business conforms to

applicable laws and regulations.
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Non-executive Directors and Independent non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring
the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their
participations provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. The Board consists
of three independent non-executive Directors and each of them
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. All independent non-executive
Directors are financially independent from the Company. The
Company confirmed with all independent non-executive Directors
as to their independence with reference to the factors as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Board Meetings
The attendance of each Director at Board meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2015 was as follows:

FATEERBIUFYTES

FRTEERBUFNTERTZEZRAREREK
ERCEERRBEN - BE 22 HIEHEHGHE
MREARBEREBRR 2D EF2RER =28

VMITEF  REHHEAA B EEERN G
FEPBERARCEENR - 2RBIIFNTE
FEMBREHBIRARF - ARRKLEETR

AE3BEMBER  BREEBIIFRTEEZ
BILEH 7 e

EExees
HE-_T—AF=ZA=Z+—HLFE ZEZNE
FEHINFLENT

Number of
meetings
Name of Director attended/held
HE BT
BEEpgs 2HEYE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee PREZETE 38/38
Mr. Wong Chak Keung mERLE 3/38
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Chen Yin BRALEE 38/38
Independent non-executive Directors BYEHITES
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 7 MeE 4/38
Mr. Leung Wing Kin RLEGEIE 5/38
Mr. Leung Chi Kong ZEM %4 4/38
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the company
secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors. All
Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training
courses on relevant topics which may count towards continuous

professional development training.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the “"Corporate Governance Code”,
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. For the period from 1 April 2014 to 31
March 2015, all Directors had participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities either by attending
training courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company's

business or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary Mr. Liu Jiazhen is a full time employee of
the Company. He fulfills the requirement under rules 3.28 and 3.29
of the Listing Rules. The company secretary reports to the Chairman
and supports the Board, ensures good information flow within the
Board and Board policy and procedures are followed; advises the
Board on governance matters, facilitates induction and, monitors
the training and continuous professional development of Directors.
He has attained not less than 15 hours of relevant professional

training during the review period.

INSURANCE
The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance, with
coverage being reviewed annually, to indemnify the directors and

officers from their risk exposure arising from corporate activities.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In respect of regular board meetings, an agenda and
accompanying board papers of the meeting are sent in full to all
directors in advance before the intended date of a meeting. The
management has the obligation to supply the Board and the
various Board committees with adequate information in a timely
manner to enable the members to make informed decisions. Each
Director has separate and independent access to the Group’s
senior management to acquire more information than is
volunteered by management and to make further enquiries if

necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises all three independent non-
executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Leung Chi Kong. The
Audit Committee meets at least twice a year. The Audit Committee
is mainly responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial
reporting system and internal control procedures; making
recommendations to the Board in the appointment and removal of
the external auditors and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditors; and any questions of
resignation or dismissal of such auditors; and reviewing the interim
and annual reports and the financial statements of the Group. The

terms of reference are available on the Company’s website.

The attendance of each member at Audit Committee meetings

during the year ended 31 March 2015 was as follows:

EREES
ERZERER-RBUIFNTESAK AR
SHIEEREER BERZEEREFHRLIBTM
REH BRZEGIZAREEARRZHEH
BERLANFEEER  REERERINSZEE
MEFE SRR ARIEINEZ B 2 HF B R
FBIRSR - Mt BRI EE < BHI R R BRI R : &
EHAEETHRFEREN NI ERRK - BIER
ERA R A AT BB

BE_ZT-AF=-A=1+—HLFE IFKZE
EREHEEZLZEGGHCHENOT

Number of

meetings

Name attended/held

HE BT

i =G
Independent non-executive Directors BYKHITES

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 7 MEAE 2/2

Mr. Leung Wing Kin gy e ot 172

Mr. Leung Chi Kong REM T4 2/2

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Remuneration Committee consists of all three
independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive
Director Mr. Chen Yin, and is chaired by Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, an
independent non-executive Director. The Remuneration Committee
is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management, and overseeing the remuneration packages of the
executive Directors and senior management. The terms of

reference are available on the Company’s website.
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The Remuneration Committee has considered and approved the
Group's policy for the remuneration of directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has assessed the
performance of the executive directors and considered the
remuneration package of executive directors by reference to the
prevailing packages with companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Details of the directors’ remuneration are
disclosed on an individual basis in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group adopts a competitive remuneration
package for its employees. Promotion and salary increments are

assessed based on a performance related basis.

A E IR
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The attendance of each member at Remuneration Committee #HZEZZT—RAF=A=+—HIFE SHFHZE
meeting during the year ended 31 March 2015 was as follows: SREHEFHEZEeeRCHEOT
Number of
meetings
Name attended/held
HE BT
e 238E
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Chen Yin bR ALk 2/3
Independent non-executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 7 oMEA 3/3
Mr. Leung Wing Kin RS 3/3
Mr. Leung Chi Kong ZER T4 3/3

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company’s Nomination Committee consists of all three
independent non-executive Directors and the non-executive
Director Mr. Chen Yin, and is chaired by Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, an
independent non-executive Director. The primary function of the
Nomination Committee is to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board annually and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Group's
corporate strategy. The terms of reference are available on the

Company'’s website.
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The attendance of each member at Nomination Committee #HZ_-_ZT—AF=—_A=1+—HILFE JREKZLE
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2015 was as follows: ERELFRELZESEHLENT
Number of
meetings
Name attended/held
HERIT
i 2BHA
Non-executive Director FHITES
Mr. Chen Yin PR OBLEE 1/2
Independent non-executive Directors BYHHITES
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix 7 oMEA 2/2
Mr. Leung Wing Kin RS 2/2
Mr. Leung Chi Kong prae i e 2/2
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION EERBAE

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions, which includes developing and reviewing the Company'’s
policies, practices on corporate governance, training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements etc. During the year under
review, the Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and

practices on corporate governance.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial period and to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.
The Board also ensures the timely publication of the consolidated
financial statements. The Directors, having made appropriate
enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The statements of the auditor of the Group regarding
their responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 33 to 34 of this

annual report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and
effective internal control system of the Group. The Board has
delegated to the management the implementation of such systems
of internal controls as well as the review of relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
procedures. The Audit Committee composites member of the
management was established for conducting a review of the
internal control of the Group which cover the material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions. Procedures have been set up, inter alia, for
safeguarding assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting
records and ensuring the reliability of financial information used for
business and publication. The management throughout the Group
maintains and monitors the internal control system on an ongoing

basis.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid and payable to the
Company's auditor, BDO Limited for audit service of year ended 31
March 2015 is HK$370,000 and for non-audit service provided is
HK$8,000 which is solely for the procedure regarding the
adjustment to the exercise price and the number of the share

options granted as a result of the share subdivision.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Subject to the Bye-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations,
the Company may in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a director of the Company either to fill a casual

vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
may propose a person (the "Candidate”) other than a director of
the Company for election as a director at a general meeting by
lodging the following documents at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong (Suites 2706-2707, 27/F., Dah Sing
Financial Centre, 108 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for
the attention of the company secretary:

1. A written notice signed by the shareholder concerned which
is given of his/her intention to propose the Candidate for

election;

2. A written notice signed by the Candidate indicating his/her
willingness to be elected, together with the Candidate’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules; and

3. The Candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.

The period for lodgment of the above documents shall have given
to the company secretary of the Company during a period
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and

ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting.
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Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Special general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more registered members of the Company
deposited at the registered office in Bermuda specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the
written requisition of any one member of the Company which is a
recognised clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within 21 days
from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene
the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them
representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of
them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by
the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman of
the Company as well as the chairman and members of various
Board committees are pleased to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. Details of poll voting procedures and the rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders despatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes relevant details of proposed resolutions,
including biographies of each candidates standing for re-election.
The results of the poll are published on the Company’s website,
and on the website of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
(http://www.hkex.com.hk).
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year under review, the Group has proactively enhanced
its corporate transparency and communications with its
shareholders and the investment community through the
announcement of its mandatory interim and final reports. Through
the timely distribution of other announcements, the Group has also
kept the public abreast of its latest developments.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee, aged 51, has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company since May 2012. Mr. Chan holds
a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of Business
Administration of The University of South Florida in the United
States of America. Mr. Chan is currently a licensed person to carry
out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures
contracts), type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) and type 9
(asset management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). He is
experienced in dealing in securities, fund management, corporate
management, corporate finance and managing listed investment
companies under Chapter 21 of the Rules Governing the Listing of

Securities on the Stock Exchange.

In June 2003, Mr. Chan joined China Innovation Investment Limited
(stock code: 1217) (“CIl"), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange, as an executive director. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Bingo Group Holdings
Limited (stock code: 8220), a company listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, in August 2007, and was
redesignated as an executive director of Bingo Group Holdings
Limited in April 2009. Mr. Chan was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of Agritrade Resources Limited (stock code:
1131) in June 2010, an executive director of China Investment and
Finance Group Limited (stock code: 1226) (“CIFG") in March 2011,
an executive director of Capital VC Limited (stock code: 2324)
("CVC") in November 2012 and an executive director of China New
Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80) (“CNEF") in June 2013. All
of CllI, CIFG, CVC and CNEF are investment companies listed on
the Stock Exchange.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chen Yin, aged 42, has been appointed as a Non-executive
Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company since
October 2013. Mr. Chen received his bachelor’'s degree in
electronic engineering from Tianjin Institute of Technology
(currently known as Tianjin University of Technology in The People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") in 1994. Mr. Chen held various
positions in financial institutions including Tianjin Trust Investment
Company (currently known as Tianjin Trust Co., Ltd.), Bohai
Securities Co., Ltd, Xiamen Securities Co., Ltd., and several fund
management companies in the PRC. Mr. Chen has over 18 years of
extensive experience in investment management, corporate
finance, securities dealing and private equity business areas. Mr.
Chen was also appointed as a distinguished visiting researcher by

the Economics Research Institute of Nankai University since 2010.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fong Wo, Felix, BBS, JP, aged 64, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since 2011.
Mr. Fong was the founding partner of Arculli Fong & Ng (now
renamed as King & Wood Mallesons) and is a consultant of King &
Wood Mallesons. Mr. Fong received his engineering degree in
Canada in 1974 and his Juris Doctor degree from Osgoode Hall
Law School in Toronto in 1978.

Mr. Fong is a member of the law societies of Hong Kong and
England, and had been honorary legal counsels of a number of
nonprofit organisations in Hong Kong such as The Chinese

Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong.

Mr. Fong is currently one of the China-appointed Attesting Officers
in Hong Kong appointed by the Ministry of Justice of China. Mr.
Fong undertook a number of community and social roles, such as
the former Chairman of the Chinese Canadian Association of Hong
Kong, the Chairman of the Advisory Council on Food and
Environmental Hygiene and a member of the Hong Kong Film
Development Council. He is also a director of the Hong Kong Basic
Law Institute Limited, a member of Guangdong Provincial
Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
and a director of China Overseas Friendship Association. In the
area of education, Mr. Fong is a founding member and the first
director of the Canadian International School of Hong Kong, and
an advisor to the Faculty of Business of University of Victoria in
Canada.
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Currently, Mr. Fong is an independent non-executive director of a
number of listed companies, namely Kingway Brewery Holdings
Limited, SPG Land (Holdings) Limited, Evergeen International
Holdings Limited and Sheen Tai Holdings Group Company Limited,
whose stocks are listed on the Stock Exchange, and also China
Oilfield Services Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange and the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Fong is a Justice
of Peace and was awarded a Bronze Bauhinia Star by the

Government of Hong Kong in recognition of his public service.

Mr. Leung Wing Kin, aged 57, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since June
2012. Mr. Leung has over 20 years of management experience in
the leisure and tourism business. He is the vice chief of the Audit
Committee of Project Ganquan of the Chinese Association of
Poverty Alleviation and Development managed by The State
Council Leading Group Office of Poverty Alleviation and
Development.

Mr. Leung Chi Kong, aged 45, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
February 2014. Mr. Leung was awarded the degrees of Bachelor of
Arts in Economic and Social Studies in 1994 and Master of Business
Administration (with Merit) in 2007 respectively. He is holding the
professional designations of Certified Public Accountant, Chartered
Global Management Accountant and Chartered Financial Analyst.
Mr. Leung has been engaged in the securities and finance industry
for more than 16 year. He is currently a director of compliance and
risk management of a multi-national securities group and he is fully
in charge of supervising the compliance and risk management
functions. Prior to this post, he was a responsible officer for the
regulated activities of dealing in securities, advising on securities
and corporate finance of a Japanese listed securities organization
in Hong Kong for more than 5 years. He was an independent non-
executive director of Sage International Group Limited (stock code:
8082) during the period from 27 July 2001 to 31 August 2011, which
are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Xuming, aged 45, was appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company in March 2013. Mr. Zhang is responsible for
the overall management of the Group. He has held various senior
positions in several well known trust investment companies and
land and property development companies in the PRC. Mr. Zhang
is well versed in supervising project investment, sales and marketing

and overseas businesses.

Mr. Liu Jiazhen, aged 28, has been appointed as the company
secretary and one of the authorised representatives of the
Company with effect from 25 April 2014. Mr. Liu is currently the
financial controller of the Company. Mr. Liu is also a member of the

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

188 S Tl

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
E5% ¢ +852 2218 8288 EAETHEER11158
+852 2815 2239 TKZFI251

ER:

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA INVESTMENT
DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment Development Limited, (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 35 to 127,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 March 2015, and consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal controls as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the

consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2015 and of the Group's loss and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Chan Wing Fai

Practising Certificate no. 05443

Hong Kong, 29 June 2015
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ = —AF=A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-AF —F—MF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B E TERT T
Revenue Weam 7 227 257
Other income H A 7 404 104
Change in fair value of financial assets BRAFEFAERREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss MBEEATEEZS 1,222 3,204
Loss on forward purchase contract RHBESHNER 18 - (18,100)
Net realised (loss)/gain on disposals of HERAFEF AEER
financial assets at fair value through BRI TS EE 2
profit or loss 25 (BR), W F8 (3,909) 505
Administrative and other expenses TR E A (86,778) (75,153)
Finance costs BE KA 8 (43) 39)
Share of results of an associate DE—FKBERNRZEE 17 (8) U
Loss before income tax expense R PS5 A 2 Al IS 18 10 (88,885) (89,2195)
Income tax expense PRS2 9 - =
Loss for the year attributable to owners RRABIER ANRERFE
of the Company B8 (88,885) (89,215)
Other comprehensive income HitZmEkz=
ltems that may be reclassified subsequently HigrgsHhohz
to profit or loss: Bm2IER :
Change in fair value of available-for-sale AHEMBEEL
financial assets NFEEE) 18 9,149 (1,490)
Exchange difference arising from REE —FRUEE R A
an associate during the year B IE (78) 59
Other comprehensive income for the year, NG H M B T s
net of tax HIBR T 18 9,071 (1,431)
Total comprehensive expenses for the year NS 2 R < A (79.814) (90,646)
Loss per share BREE 13 (represented)
(&51)
— Basic (HK cents per share) — EAR(TREW) 1.088 1.302
— Diluted (HK cents per share) — #58 (FRB) 1.088 1.302
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets HERQAFEFAKER
at fair value through profit or loss BRECHEEEZEBRE 241,340 96,364
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Ao IR DL A%

As at 31 March 2015 R=—ZE—RF=A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-ERF —T-F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B sE FE&xT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment I E NG 15 721 508
Interest in an associate R—REE QB 2 HE 17 6,084 6,170
Available-for-sale financial assets AN EMKEEE 18 61,541 14,900
68,346 21,578
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value through RATEF AR RERIE
profit or loss Z TG EE 19 29,130 27,795
Other receivables, deposits and HEKEIE ~ Re Rk
prepayments TERFIE 20 90,496 22,570
Bank and cash balances RITRBE & 21 2,193 73,083
121,819 123,448
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued charges A S RIE N R B 1,098 1,589
Amount due to a director JE—REERIE 22 - 1,608
1,098 3,197
Net current assets REEERE 120,721 120,251
Net assets EEZHE 189,067 141,829
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
w3 WHBHIR DL

As at 31 March 2015 R=Z—H&=A=+—H

2015 2014
—E—RF —ZPUeE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 FHET THET
EQUITY P
Equity attributable to owners of AAREBAELES
the Company
Share capital [N 23 8,343 7,725
Reserves (i 180,724 134,104
Total equity R 189,067 141,829
(represented)
(E31))
Net asset value per share BREEFRE 26  HK$0.0237#&7t  HK$0.018%E7T
On behalf of the Board REREFE

Chen Yin
R AL

Director

EF

Chan Cheong Yee

RE=

Director

EF
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

S5 IR DL

As at 31 March 2015 R=—ZE—RF=A=+—H

2015 2014
—F-1F% e
Notes HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FHT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YEE -~ R KR 15 356 48
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AT ZIZE 16 782 782
Available-for-sale financial assets AHETBEE 18 44,036 -
45,174 830
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAF AT ATEE S RIS
profit or loss A E 19 29,130 27,795
Other receivables, deposits and HhEWGRIE ~ iRe Rk
prepayments LN R 20 90,454 22,521
Amounts due from subsidiaries T NG B 22 14,744 34,338
Bank and cash balances RITRB & 21 2,160 73,074
136,488 157,728
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued charges Hib e IEREGER 1,097 1,571
Amount due to a director BN —REEHAE 22 - 1,608
1,097 3,179
Net current assets REEEFRE 135,391 154,549
Net assets EEEE 180,565 155,379
EQUITY e
Share capital R& 7N 23 8,343 7,725
Reserves i 24 172,222 147,654
Total equity RSB 180,565 155,379
On behalf of the Board REESS

Chen Yin
R Al

Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

SRt REaR S )R

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ = —AF=A=+—HIFE

Investment Share
Share Share  revaluation option  Exchange Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
REBf BiE
R BRin&E e [t B R 2R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAT TAT TR TAT TAT TAT TAT

At 1 April 2013 RZE-=4mA-H 6,449 61,029 - 4,730 66 (38,183) 34,091
Loss for the year REREER = = = - - (89,215) (89,213)
Other comprehensive income Hip2ENE
Change in fair value of available-for-sale  ATHEFHEE L
financial assets AHERS = = (1490) = - - (1,490)
Exchange difference arising from FR-FHERA
an associate during the year EECERER
(Note 17) (1) - - - - Rl - Sl
- - (1,490) - 59 - (1,431)
Total comprehensive income IEERENREE
for the year - - (1,490) - 59 (89,215) (90,646)
Issue of shares 17k 1,100 118,300 - - - - 119,400
Shares issued in acquisition of WK ERETRA
investment 150 27,750 - - - - 27,900
Shares issued under share option RIEERET 2
scheme B{7iRM 26 930 - (291) - - 665
Forfeiture of share option expenses RIRBERIER = = = (872) = 872 -
Recognition of share options DERE - - - 21,216 - - 51,216
Share issue expenses OEIEE = (797) - - - - (797
At 31 March 2014 and R=Z-m&F
1 April 2014 ZA=t-Bk
“E-|mF
mA-A 175 07212 (1490 54783 125 (12650 14189
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

B RE 42 5 W) 3%

For the year ended 31 March 2015 2= —AF=A=+—HIFE

Investment Share
Share Share  revaluation option  Exchange Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
REEf BRE
e BREEE e e B ZithE @zt
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR TERT TR TARL TAL
At 31 March 2014 and R=Z-RE
1 April 2014 =R=t-HkK
“E-MF
mA-A 1,725 207,212 (1,490) 54,783 125 (126,526) 141,829
Loss for the year REEER - - - - - (88,885)  (88,885)
Other comprehensive income Hip2ANE
Change in fair value of available-for-sale  ATHEHBEEZ
financial assets ATEES - - 9,149 - - - 9,149
Exchange difference arising from FR-FEENA
an associate during the year EEZERZET
(Note 17) (HtsE17) - - - - (78) - (78)
. - 9,149 - (78) - 9,071
Total comprehensive income ERREKEEE
for the year - - 9,149 - (78) (88,885) (79,814)
Issue of shares Bk 220 31,680 - - - - 31,900
Shares issued in acquisition of WK ERETRA
investment 78 13,795 - - - - 13,873
Shares issued under share option REERES 2
scheme BIRH 320 12,594 - (3,964) - - 8,950
Recogpition of share options R - - - 72,592 - - 72,592
Share issue expenses RDETHRY - (263) - - - - (263)
At 31 March 2015 Ro2-Ef
=B=1-A 8343 265018 7659 123411 47 (215411) 189,067
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
A Bl LR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ = —AF=A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E—RF —ZE-mEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B E TERT T
Cash flows from operating activities RERLEERIBRERE
Loss before income tax expense R PS5 A 2 AT IS 18 (88,885) (89,215)
Adjustments for: STRE|=EELFE
Depreciation e 15 270 993
Equity-settled share-based payment e a4 B DARR (9 13K 10 72,592 51,216
Net realised loss/(gain) on disposals of HERAFEG ALER
fair value of financial assets at fair value BBV BEEATELZ
through profit or loss B#IREE (W) F8E 3,909 (505)
Interest income FESA (227) (257)
Bank interest income RITALEHA (338) (59)
Interest expense B 8 43 39
Change in fair value of financial assets at RATFEFAEERRREZ
fair value through profit or loss MBEE N EES (1,222) (3,204)
Loss on forward purchase contract REEE K 2 B8 18 - 18,100
Over-provision of expenses X R RE 7 - (45)
Share of results of an associate ME—KBERE 2 EE 17 8 @)
Written off of other receivables 88 L Ath B Wi kIR 10 - 5,200
Written off of property, plant and equipment WY BB N RE 15 - 8
Operating loss before working EEESHBAZREER
capital changes (13,850) (17,736)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value BERATE ALER
through profit or loss BRIR 2 TS B (245,362) (98,855)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets as HERAFEFT AEER
fair value through profit or loss BRIE 2 M B EZFTBRIA 241,340 96,364
Increase in other receivables, deposits and HEiEWRIE e R
prepayments SEUNEOEb (67,699) (23,930)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and Hip S8 K ERTE A
accrued charges CRd),/ 1 m (491) 186
Cash used in operations REFERS (86,062) (43,971)
Interest received B UHE 338 59
Interest paid BEAIFILE (43) (62)
Net cash used in operating activities REERAERSTFE (85,767) (43,974)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

i BRI LR

For the year ended 31 March 2015 2= —AF=A=+—HIFE

2015 2014
—E-EfF —
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B E FTHERT THET
Cash flows from investing activities REREXKZHERE
Purchases of available-for-sale financial assets BB A HE MK EE (23,619) (6,590)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEYFE  BEREE 15 (483) (811)
Net cash used in investing activities REEKFEBESFE (24,102) (7,401)
Cash flows from financing activities REMETH2RERE
Proceeds from borrowing EEREHE - 1,080
Repayment of borrowing BEEE - 3,979
Proceeds from issuing of shares TR D TS 108 31,900 119,400
Proceeds from share issued under RIRE AR AT 81 21T AR D
share option scheme FT{SRIE 8,950 665
Share issuing expenses paid B G EITHR (263) (797)
(Repayment to)/advance from directors (REFER), BEEFRX (1,608) 1,459
Net cash generated from financing activities B&EEEFEREEE 38,979 117,828
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and Iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
cash equivalents W) SR (70,890) 66,453
Cash and cash equivalents ﬂﬂﬂﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
at beginning of year 73,083 6,630
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ERBERBELEEY 2,193 73,083
Bank balances RITETT 2,193 28,058
Fixed deposits T BTF R - 45,025
Bank and cash balances RITRBE & 2,193 73,083
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 T 25 3 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Investment Development Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 25 March 1998 and was de-registered
on 11 March 2011 and was registered by way of continuation
as an exempted company in Bermuda on 2 March 2011. The
Company's shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from
12 December 2000. Its registered office is located at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and its principal office in Hong Kong is located at Suites
2706-2707, 27/F., Dah Sing Financial Centre, 108 Gloucester
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding
for medium to long-term capital appreciation purposes, and
investment in listed and unlisted securities. The principal
activities of the Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 16

to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(a) Adoption of new/revised to HKFRSs — first
effective on 1 January 2014

Amendments to HKAS 32 Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities
Amendments to HKFRS 10,  Investment entities
HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
(2011)

Amendments to HKAS 39 Novation of Derivatives and

Continuation of Hedge Accounting
HK (IFRIC) 21 Levies

The adoption of these amendments has no material

impact on the Group's financial statements.
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B0 27 18 27062707 = °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
s 1 J B R A i

For the year ended 31 March 2015 2= —AF=A=+—HIFE

44

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. BRHEARAMBERESELN(FEBMKR
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs") SEXEH| ) (&)

(continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but (b) CEMEMRERZHFT LB

are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group's financial statements, have been issued,
but are not yet effective and have not been early

adopted by the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 1
HKFRS 9 (2014)

Disclosure Initiative'
Financial Instruments®

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture'

Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial
Statements'

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2016
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2017
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018

HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows (the business model test) and that have
contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow
characteristics test) are generally measured at amortised
cost. Debt instruments that meet the contractual cash
flow characteristics test are measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income ("FVTOCI") if the
objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold
and collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the
financial assets. Entities may make an irrevocable
election at initial recognition to measure equity
instruments that are not held for trading at FVTOCI. All
other debt and equity instruments are measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 T 25 3 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")
(continued)
(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 9 (2014) — Financial Instruments (continued)

HKFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment
model for all financial assets not measured at FVTPL
replacing the incurred loss model in HKAS 39 and new
general hedge accounting requirements to allow
entities to better reflect their risk management activities

in financial statements.

HKFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification
and measurement requirements for financial liabilities
from HKAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated
at FVTPL, where the amount of change in fair value
attributable to change in credit risk of the liability is
recognised in other comprehensive income unless that
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch. In
addition, HKFRS 9 retains the requirements in HKAS 39
for derecognition of financial assets and financial

liabilities.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to
be recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets
to its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
involves a business the gain or loss is recognised in full,
conversely when the transaction involves assets that do
not constitute a business the gain or loss is recognised
only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests in

the joint venture or associate.

Amendments to HKAS 27 — Equity Method in
Separate Financial Statements

The amendments allow an entity to apply the equity
method in accounting for its investments in subsidiaries,
joint ventures and associates in its separate financial

statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 & ===
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")

(continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

are not yet effective (continued)
HKFRS 15 — Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

The new standard establishes a single revenue
recognition framework. The core principle of the
framework is that an entity should recognise revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods and services. HKFRS 15 supersedes
existing revenue recognition guidance including HKAS
18 "Revenue”, HKAS 11 “Construction Contracts” and

related interpretations.

HKFRS 15 requires the application of a 5-step approach

to revenue recognition:

e Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the

contract

e Step 3: Determine the transaction price

e Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each

performance obligation

e Step 5. Recognise revenue when each performance

obligation is satisfied

HKFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular
revenue related topics that may change the current
approach taken under HKFRS. The standard also

significantly enhances the qualitative and quantitative

disclosures related to revenue.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")
(continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative

The amendments clarify that companies should use
professional judgement in determining what information
as well as where and in what order information is
presented in the financial statements. Specifically, an
entity should decide, taking into consideration all
relevant facts and circumstances, how it aggregates
information in the financial statements, which include
the notes. An entity does not require to provide a
specific disclosure required by a HKFRS if the
information resulting from that disclosure is not material.
This is the case even if the HKFRS contain a list of
specific requirements or describe them as minimum

requirements.

Besides, the amendments provide some additional
requirements for presenting additional line items,
headings and subtotals when their presentation is
relevant to an understanding of the entity’s financial
position and financial performance respectively. Entities,
in which they have investments in associates or joint
ventures, are required to present the share of other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method, separated into
the share of items that (i) will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss; and (ii) will be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss when specific conditions

are met.
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48

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“"HKFRSs")
(continued)

(b) New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but

(c)

are not yet effective (continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
(continued)

Furthermore, the amendments clarify that:

(i) an entity should consider the effect on the
understandability and comparability of its financial
statements when determining the order of the

notes; and

(i) significant accounting policies are not required to
be disclosed in one note, but instead can be

included with related information in other notes.

The amendments will become effective for financial
statements with annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2016. Earlier application is permitted.

The directors are currently assessing the potential

impact of these pronouncements.

The disclosure requirements of the new Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance relating to the
preparation of financial statements

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) requiring financial
statements disclosures with the new Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, Cap. 622 (the “New Companies
Ordinance”) will first apply to the Company in its
financial year ending 31 March 2016.

The directors consider that there will be no impact on
the Group's financial position or performance, however
the New Companies Ordinance would have impacts on
the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The Statement of Financial Position
of the Company will be presented in the notes rather
than a separate statement and certain related notes

need not be included.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs"”) and
Interpretations and the disclosure requirements of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable

disclosures required by the Listing Rules.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, which are measured at
fair values as explained in the accounting policies set
out in note 4 below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"). Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and record in its own functional
currency. The functional currency of the Company is
HK$.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”). Inter-company transactions and balances
between group companies together with unrealised
profits are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case

the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates of
acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted
for using the acquisition method. The cost of an
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the
acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities
incurred and equity interests issued by the Group, as
the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group's previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured at
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains or
losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interests that represent present
ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that they
arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from
the acquisition date) about the fair value at the
acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments to
contingent consideration classified as an asset or a

liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Contingent consideration balances arising from
business combinations whose acquisition dates
preceded 1 January 2010 (i.e. the date the Group first
applied HKFRS 3 (2008)) have been accounted for in
accordance with the transition requirements in the
standard. Such balances are not adjusted upon first
application of the standard. Subsequent revisions to
estimates of such consideration are treated as
adjustments to the cost of these business combinations

and are recognised as part of goodwill.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group's
interest and the non-controlling interest are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the
subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the
same manner as would be required if the relevant assets

or liabilities were disposed of.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is
able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (1) power over the investee, (2) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (3) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these

elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend

received and receivable.

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but not control or joint control
over those policies. Associates are accounted for using
the equity method whereby they are initially recognised
at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are
adjusted for the Group's share of the post-acquisition
change in the associates’ net assets except that losses
in excess of the Group's interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good

those losses.

Annual Report &5k 2015

4.

BEXETHREBE(E)

(a)

(b)

(c)

KB RGEEEE(HE)

Wig  JrEiiEs (RRBAFRHEA
mEE D) CREE/SZEEENT
SRR 2 SRR ERE G ER
Hig#g 5o - @8 HMzEIFE
s bR B AR 2EREARD
BRI IR R RS o

BT

MEARRAREATERIEEZIRE
HR e ??ALAT%*B:IE?Eiﬁqﬁ‘JKA
AEREHREEEGE (1) HREY
KERN Q) ﬂ&éﬂ%ZTﬁ@i&%
ERBRXZEER : RO A EAEEN
FEZSEOR - WEFEXIFTRE
TRERHEERNREE  AERF
{4

RARBHBIRRAERA - RIBREZ
BERRABRERESIR(ME) o i
BRAZEBERARRIZE W R ER A

BEAE A o

N

wgamﬁ$¢lgﬁﬁix ZVFd
B MURHBATNAELE. 8

RYENIEERS ﬁm&éﬂ%%%
RS ETR - et 420 ) 3 3 R 4

R o BB AT EREREAR

Bt PP RKAER  EES0HA
SEELBE AR EEFENERED
AREREE HEBARREREER
RIZERZBEERTERR BRIEFET
BEZEEE -



China Investment Development Limited o #EI#% & FZEGR QA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 T 25 3 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

(d)

Associates (continued)

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against

the carrying value of the associate.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value
of the Group's share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate and the
entire carrying amount of the investment is subject to
impairment test, by comparing the carrying amount with
its recoverable amount, which is higher of value in use

and fair value less costs to sell.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable during the year.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the

financial period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of

each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease term or 4 years

Leasehold improvement

Furniture and fixture 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Motor vehicle 5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s

estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the net
sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is

recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are

classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease. Lease incentives received
are recognised as an integrated part of the total rental

expenses over the terms of the lease.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f) Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial
recognition, depending on the purpose for which
the asset was acquired. Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are initially measured
at fair value and all other financial assets are
initially measured at fair value plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Regular way
purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. A regular way purchase or sale is a purchase
or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the asset within the time
frame established generally by regulation or

convention in the marketplace concerned.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These assets include financial assets held for
trading and financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or
loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments or financial guarantee

contracts.

Where a contract contains one or more
embedded derivatives, the entire hybrid contract
may be designated as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss, except where the
embedded derivative does not significantly modify
the cash flows or it is clear that separation of the
embedded derivative is prohibited.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

Financial assets may be designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss if
the following criteria are met: (i) the designation
eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent
treatment that would otherwise arise from
measuring the assets or recognising gains or
losses on them on a different basis; (ii) the assets
are part of a group of financial assets which is
managed and its performance evaluated on a fair
value basis according to a documented
management strategy; or (iii) the financial asset
contains an embedded derivative that would need

to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in

profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Loans and receivables

These assets are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They incorporate
other types of contractual monetary asset.
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest

method, less any identified impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

These assets are non-derivative financial assets
that are designated as available-for-sale or are not
included in other categories of financial assets.
Subsequent to initial recognition, these assets are
carried at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in other comprehensive income,
except for impairment losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses on monetary

instruments, which are recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)  Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting
period, whether there is any objective evidence
that financial asset is impaired. Financial asset is
impaired if there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset and that event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of

impairment may include:

o significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal

payments;

o granting concession to a debtor because of

debtor’s financial difficulty;

o a significant or prolonged decline in the fair
value of an investment in equity investment

below its cost; and

o it becoming probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial

reorganisation.

For Loans and receivables

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset is
impaired, and is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When
any part of financial asset is determined as
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance

account for the relevant financial asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
For Available-for-sale financial assets

Where a decline in the fair value constitutes
objective evidence of impairment, the amount of
the loss is removed from equity and recognised in

profit or loss.

Any impairment losses on available-for-sale debt
investments are subsequently reversed in profit or
loss if an increase in the fair value of the
investment can be objectively related to an event
occurring after the recognition of the impairment

loss.

For available-for-sale equity investment, any
increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment

loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.

For available-for-sale equity investment that is
carried at cost, the amount of impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the carrying
amount of the asset and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial

asset. Such impairment loss is not reversed.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)  Financial instruments (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at amortisation
costs are initially measured at fair value, net of

directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
other payables and accrued charge, other
borrowing and amount due to directors and
subsidiaries are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is

recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the amortisation process.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that
contain both the liability and conversion option
components are classified separately into
respective items on initial recognition. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for
a fixed number of the Company’s own equity

instruments is an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing
market interest rate of similar non-convertible
debts. The difference between the gross proceeds
of the issue of the convertible bonds and the fair
value assigned to the liability component,
representing the conversion option for the holder
to convert the bonds into equity, is included in

convertible bonds equity reserve.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Financial instruments (continued)

(iv)

(v)

Convertible bonds (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. The
conversion option classified as equity will remain
in the convertible bonds equity reserve until the
conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance stated in the convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised
at the maturity date, the balance stated in the
convertible bonds equity reserve will be released
to accumulated losses. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or

expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
conversion option components in proportion to
the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the conversion option component
are recognised directly in equity. Transaction costs
relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability component
and are amortised over the lives of the convertible

bonds using the effective interest method.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a

shorter period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)  Financial instruments (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows in
relation to the financial asset expire or when the
financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKAS 39.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is

discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms of
that liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and
measured at their fair value on the date the
financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If
the fair value of the equity instruments issued
cannot be reliably measured, the equity
instruments are measured to reflect the fair value
of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or

loss for the year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and

deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at
the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in
which the carrying amount of the asset or liability is
realised or settled and that have been enacted or

substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in measuring
deferred tax amount is when an investment property is
carried at fair value under HKAS 40 “Investment
Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is
to consume substantially all the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than

through sale.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services that are vested at the
date of grant, the fair value of the share options granted
is expensed immediately to profit or loss with a
corresponding increase in the share option reserve

within equity.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred

to accumulated profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

()

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of the following assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists

or may have decreased:
o Property, plant and equipment; and
o Investment in subsidiaries and associate.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised

as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost
of those assets. Income earned on temporary
investments of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on those assets is deducted from
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(k) Provisions
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of

economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

() Related party
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s

family is related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel

of the Group or the Company's parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the

other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same

third party.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
() Related party (continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply: (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or

of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those

family members who may be expected to influence, or

be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity and include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic

partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse

or domestic partner.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources

of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period that

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next

financial year are discussed below.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Depreciation and amortisation

The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful lives and after taking into account
their estimated residual values, using the straight line method.
The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’ estimate of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of the Group's property, plant and
equipment. The residual values reflect the directors’
estimated amount that the Group would currently obtain from
disposal of the asset, after deducting the estimated costs of
disposal, if the assets were already of the age and in the

condition expected at the end of its useful life.

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The Group's provision policy for bad and doubtful debts is
based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing analysis
of accounts and on management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the
Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional allowance may be

required.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses impairment at each reporting date by
evaluating conditions specific to the Group that may lead to
impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use
calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts
incorporate a number of key estimates and assumptions
about future events, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making these
key estimates and judgements, the directors take into
consideration assumptions that are mainly based on market
condition existing at the reporting date and regularly
compared to actual market date and actual transactions

entered into by the Group.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

For available-for-sale financial assets, a significant or
prolonged decline in fair value below carrying value is
considered to be objective evidence of impairment.
Judgement is required when determining whether a decline
in fair value has been significant or prolonged. In making this
judgement, the management of the Group takes into account
factors such as industry and sector performance and financial

information regarding the investees.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may
earn revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the
basis of the internal management reporting information that
is provided to and regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief
operating decision maker in order to allocate resources and
assess performance of the segment. For the years ended 31
March 2015 and 2014, the information reported to the
executive directors, who are the chief operating decision
makers for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment
of performance, do not contain profit or loss information of
each business line or geographical area and the executive
directors reviewed the financial result of the Group as a whole
reported under HKFRSs. Therefore, the executive directors
have determined that the Group has only one single business
component/reportable segment as the Group is only
engaged in investment holding. The executive directors
allocate resources and assess performance on an aggregated

basis. Accordingly, no operating segment is presented.
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For the year ended

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.
The following table provides an analysis of the Group's
revenue and non-current assets including property, plant and
equipment and interest in an associate (i.e. “specified non-
current assets”) by geographical locations, determined based

on physical location of the assets or location of operations in

case of interest in an associate, is as follows:

Aok 1 T 25 3 o B

31 March 2015 BE=—E—HAF=A=+—HIFE

TEER(E)
IRIEHIZEEBRAE S E% S E i (10
BR—RBE QR 2 fs) TETE IR E S
DRZAKERERIFRBDEE(BREYE B
B REBEEARN—KEE R F 2 (A [ 7E
FRBEED) 2T

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
REIREF 2z W= BEFRBEE
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —THF ZE—HF —TOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FH&xT T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) &% (3E.25) 227 257 721 508
Other regions of the People’'s  FR#E A B HANEH
Republic of China (the “PRC")  ([FRE|) Hfbith[= - = 6,084 6,170
227 257 6,805 6,678
REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7. WHERHEMKA
2015 2014
—E-EE —= e
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBT T
Revenue: Weas
Interest income from financial assets at BAFEFAEERREZ
fair value through profit or loss IS EE 2N BWA 227 257
Other income: HEaUA -
Bank interest income RITAI B MA 338 59
Others Hh 43 -
Dividend income f% S A 23 =
Over-provision of expenses 5 X AR ZB - 45
404 104
Total revenue and other income Was 2 H g A 4a%E 631 361

The Group's revenue represents interest income from
convertible bonds. No other source of income contributed to
the Group's revenue for both 2015 and 2014.
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMA
2015 2014
—E-AF —T—MmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest on other borrowings fully repaid: ERHEEZHMEERE
Interest expense FERX 43 39
9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FSHMAX
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) on EB B TS BT 5L A F G ET R R B s AR
the estimated assessable profits for the year. Overseas tax is 16.5% (ZZ—PUEF : 16.5%)5HE o BINGIERZ
calculated at the rates applicable in the respective BRI EERERNEAHE - BRAKERA
jurisdictions. No provision for income tax expense is required FEWER A BB H M AERER 2 RS
since the Group has no assessable profits either arising from A - MBAERFRSTRZBE (T —HF
Hong Kong or other jurisdictions during the year (2014: Nil). ) o
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REEMRERA RS BRE XA M2 E K
loss before income tax expense per consolidated statement RAKREHAYATERE 2 HEROT ¢
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:
2015 2014
—F-1F —TmE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Loss before income tax expense B TS X Al &8 (88,885) (89,215)
Tax calculated at the domestic income R PTG T 16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2014: 16.5%) (ZZ—MF : 165%) T8 2 Fi1E (14,666) (14,720)
Tax effect of share of results of an associate DE—REEE N A EE 2 FRIEHE 1 )
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AR 2 s 2
tax purpose 11,991 11,445
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for BEFRRBRA Z RIS 2
tax purpose (720) (538)
Tax effect on temporary differences not ARERER =B METE
recognised 20 103
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIEATIBEE 2 IS 2 3,374 3,712
Income tax expense PSR 32 - =
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ = —AF=A=+—HIFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9. FBBiBX (&)
No deferred tax asset liability has been recorded on HREREE MG EHAEEN S L E
temporary differences of approximately HK$3,558,000 (2014: AN MU BRTBREARERFZEHL
approximately (HK$3,435,000)) has been made in the financial 3,558,000/ 7L (= F — 04 : 493,435,000 7T)
statements as the tax effect of the temporary difference is BEREHRIEEAERRE -
immaterial to the Group.
At the end of reporting period, the Group had unused tax RBEBMR AEBERPAREEEL
losses of approximately HK$75,496,000 (2014: approximately 75,496,00078 7L (= Z — P4 : #55,048,000 %
HK$55,048,000) available for offset against future profits that JT) - AR AR AOR A - B A AR HRAE o
may be carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has BN T AR ARSI E - I ERE AR E)
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to BB EERRLEHIBEE
unpredictability of future profit streams.
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. BRATSHAXAIEE
Loss before income tax expense is stated after charging the bR FT 75 %51 2 B ETHE AC HIBR T 51 %38 -
following:
2015 2014
—E—FF — U4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Staff costs B TR
Salaries e 3,619 2,458
Provident fund contributions NIES K 63 39
Equity-settled share-based payment R A E AR A 3R 9.327 5,246
Total staff costs excluding directors’ BTRAEB(TEREESHE)
remunerations 13,009 7,743
Auditor’s remuneration G 370 350
Depreciation e 270 993
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) B0 (KiFE14) 7,807 10,008
Loss on forward purchase contract REEE A X EE
(note 18(iv)) (Bt 3E 18(v)) - 18,100
Written off of other receivables il L e W kOB - 5,200
Equity-settled share-based payment R AEE AR TR
Director (note 14) E= (fFE14) 6,480 8,029
Consultants =] 66,112 43,187
Total Equity-settled share based payment R A E AR N R A %E 72,592 51,216
Investment manager's fee KEKIEER 720 720
Rent and rates THE K= 1,882 4,984
Written off of property, plant and equipment #fi$5¥% « /= Mk - 8
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11.

12.

13.

72

DIVIDENDS
The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2015 (2014: Nil).

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

Loss attributable to shareholders includes an amount of
approximately HK$108,410,000 (2014: HK$70,828,000) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company.

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is
based on the following data:

11. RE

EETEEMBE_T—HF=A=1+—HIt
FERNEMRE(ZZ—TF &) -

12. AR

AHEAARERNFERE

BREEEBESEERARATHHRERRA
B 1B A 8 #47108,410,000 T ( = T — MY 4F -
70,828,000/8 75) Z FXIA °

13. BREE
ADBEBESHEARGETRER LB EE
BIRA TREE

2015 2014
S —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
Loss [ E ]
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ~ FRFFEEREARREEEIE 2
the Company for the purposes of ARAREEARERFEEERE
basic and diluted loss per share (88,885) (89,215)
(represented)
(E31))

Number of shares R E
Weighted average number of ordinary PR EERERAREEERZ
shares for the purposes of basic and 3 A% pAE 5 & (KT 5E (a))

diluted loss per share (note (a))

8,167,969,951  6,851,970,614

Notes:

(@)  The weighted average number of ordinary shares of both years
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share have been
adjusted for the issue of shares during the years then ended
and subdivision of share being completed on 2 January 2015
as if the subdivision was effective from the beginning of the
year ended 31 March 2014, as detailed in note 23.

(b)  No diluted loss per share has been presented as the potential

ordinary share in respect of outstanding share options is anti-
dilutive for both years.
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

(a)

Directors

Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to Section
78(1) of Schedule 11 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, Cap. 622, which requires compliance with
Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
Cap. 32, is as follows:

(a)

14. EERLEBREHFALZHE

B=x
RIBEE B 5E 622 % B R B &G H
RNB78MMIF(RERETEEBENE
RNEFBRAED) TUARBZEEHE
LU

2015 2014
—E-EREF —T-mEF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT THIT
Fees we

Executive directors WITES 286 480
Non-executive directors FEHITES 240 114
Independent non-executive directors B IEHITTES 720 720
1,246 1,314
Basic salaries and other benefits HEARFH S N EMER 80 650

Contributions to retirement benefit RIRER T2 R
scheme 1 15
Equity-settled share-based payment T 7 45 B DARR (9 1~ 3K 6,480 8,029
7,807 10,008

No directors had waived any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid to the directors as inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

for loss of office during the year (2014: Nil).

RAFE - EEERETMAME - 7K
ERAEENEMME - FABEEN
AREEI R IMAREE R 2 52F) - 3
TERBEREE (2T —F - &) -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EBRAEBESFATZHME (E)
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (@) E=E(AE)
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the six BN EMNAZ(ZE—HF: \E)E
(2014: eight) directors are as follows: EZMEenT
2015
—E-1f

Contribution
Salaries and  to retirement  Share-based

Fees other benefit scheme payment Total
Hek EREFE
ne HigA "3 BRI @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET TET TET
Executive directors HITES
Chan Cheong Yee REZE 270 - - 1,889 2,159
Wong Chak Keung (note (i) #2834 (Fit3E()) 16 80 1 - 97
Non-executive director *HTES
Chen Yin BRJA 240 - - 116 356
Independent non- executive BIAFHTES
directors
Fong Wo, Felix bkl 240 - - 1,790 2,030
Leung Chi Kong 2ER 240 - - 1,790 2,030
Leung Wing Kin REGE 240 - - 895 1,135
1,246 80 1 6,480 7,807
Notes: e
0) Resigned on 25 April 2014 [0) R-Z—OFN A =+ H HEHE
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EBRAEBESFATZHME (E)
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (@) E=E(AE)
2014
—TE
Contribution
Salariesand  toretirement  Share-based
Fees  other benefit scheme payment Total
E BINEEE
fika Ht A R D INES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET THT T THT
Executive directors YTES
Chan Cheong Yee BREX 240 - - 4,769 5,009
Wong Chak Keung (note (i)) =2 (HEE() 240 650 15 398 1,303
Non-executive directors FHTES
Chen Yin (note (i) EENGREAD)) 114 = = 2,067 2,181
Lin Song (note (iii)) PRI (PASE (i) - - - - -
Independent non- executive BIUFHTES
directors
Fong Wo, Felix A 240 - - 795 1,035
Leung Chi Kong (note (iv)) 2EM (HEE (v) 40 = = = 40
Leung Wing Kin AL e 240 - - - 240
Tang Ping Sum (note (v)) BmER (i (W) 200 - - - 200
1,314 650 15 8,029 10,008
Notes: FI5E

(i) Resigned on 25 April 2014 0] RZT-—MOFOA = +HHEHE
(i) Appointed on 10 October 2013 (i) MRZT—=F+AT+HEZE
(iii)  Retired on 27 August 2013 iy MZZT—=FNA=-t+tHEE
(iv)  Appointed on 1 February 2014 (ivy R-T-—NF-_HA—BEEZRE
(vy  Resigned on 1 February 2014 v RIT-—MHFE-_A—HEHME
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERAEREFALIZME (E)
INDIVIDUALS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)
(a) Directors (continued) (@) E=E(AE)
The number of directors whose remuneration fell within e FATEHE 2 ESEASAT -

the following band is follow:

2015 2014
—E—hfF —T e
HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 T I E 1,000,000 74570 2 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,000,001 7 7T 2 3,000,000 7T 4 3
HK$3,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 3,000,001 78 7T 2 6,000,000 78 7T - 1
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments (b) RBEEFALZEHE
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals FE(ZZE—WF : AR)ZRaFAL(E
(2014: five) (which include nil director (2014: 1)) were as FREZE(ZE—NF: —R)EH) 2
follows: BT
2015 2014
—E-AfF —T e
HK$000 HK$'000
FExT T
Basic salaries and other benefits HEARFH & REMBET 2,217 1,600
Contributions to retirement benefit RIRAEF T B HE5R
scheme 27 =
Equity-settled share-based payment 7 75 45 B DARR (9 17 3K 30,120 23,227
32,364 24,827
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14. EERFEBREHFALTZHE (EF)

INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments (b)
(continued)
The number of the five highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follow:

AEREHFALZHME (F)

e N T FREZ BERBHFALH
BuaR :

2015 2014

—E-AfF —= e

HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 T3 7T 2 1,000,000 7T - =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 1,000,001 7 7T & 3,000,000 7 7T - =
HK$3,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 3,000,001 7 JT. 2 6,000,000 4 7T 1 4
HK$6,000,001 to HK$9,000,000 6,000,001 7T 2 9,000,000 47T 4 1

There was no arrangement under which any of the five
(2014: five) highest paid employees had waived or

agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors or the highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the

Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

WAFE  HBERLE(CE-—NF: 1
F)REFEEEREAALREXRE
MRS R S AER R HE -

RAFE  AEBELEREMNESH
=SEEB SN EAME - ERZEE N
ARE BN INARE E 2 220 - =
1ERBERLAR(E -
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

78

15. Y%  BERRE

GROUP
by -]
Leasehold  Furniture and Motor Computer
improvements equipment Vehicle equipment Total
HENELE EUNVE T RE B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT AT AT
At 31 March 2013 and R-B-=%=A=t+-H
1 April 2013 kR=E-=fMA-AH
Cost PR 3,466 50 - 9 3,525
Accumulated depreciation BitiE (2,809) (15) = 3) (2,827)
Net carrying amount REFE 657 35 - 6 698
Year ended 31 March 2014 BE-E2-Mf
ZA=+-BLEE
Opening net carrying amount  E41EREFE 657 35 - 6 698
Additions WE 306 - 476 29 811
Written off b = 6) - = )
Depreciation e (963) (10) (16) ) (993)
Closing net carrying amount HRREFAE - 17 460 31 508
At 31 March 2014 R-B-ME=A=t+-H
Cost B 3,772 36 476 38 4,322
Accumulated depreciation BitirE (3,772) (19) (16) @ (3,814)
Net carrying amount REFE - 17 460 31 508
Year ended 31 March 2015 BE-2-1f
ZA=t-HLEE
Opening net carrying amount 18R A S - 17 460 31 508
Additions NE 474 9 - - 483
Depreciation e (158) (9) (95) (8) (270)
Closing net carrying amount HREREFE 316 17 365 23 721
At 31 March 2015 R-E-5%=A=1-H
Cost A 4,246 45 476 38 4,805
Accumulated depreciation B:tirE (3,930) (28) (111) (15) (4,084)
Net carrying amount REFE 316 17 365 23 721
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ = —AF=A=+—HIFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

15. W% - BENRRE(E)

COMPANY
YN
Leasehold  Furniture and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Total
HEMFEE BRRRE BB w@ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THBT THET THET THT
At 31 March 2013 and R-B-=5=ZA=t-HR
1 April 2013 “Z-=5WA-A
Cost A 3,466 47 9 3,522
Accumulated depreciation ZEHITE (2,809) (15) 3) (2.827)
Net carrying amount BEFE 657 32 6 695
Year ended 31 March 2014 BE-_Z-ME=A=1—H
LEE
Opening net carrying amount HREFE 657 32 6 695
Additions AE 306 - 29 335
Written off A = ) = )
Depreciation wE (963) © ) (976)
Closing net carrying amount HRREFE - 17 31 48
At 31 March 2014 R-ZB-ME=B=+—H
Cost BRA 3,772 36 38 3,846
Accumulated depreciation Z:HinE (3,772) (19) 7 (3,798)
Net carrying amount REFE - 17 31 48
Year ended 31 March 2015 HZ_Z-HAf=A=+-H
LLFE
Opening net carrying amount HREFE - 17 31 48
Additions RE 474 9 - 483
Depreciation e (158) 9 (8) (175)
Closing net carrying amount HRRMFE 316 17 23 356
At 31 March 2015 RZB-EF=A=t—H
Cost AR 4,246 45 38 4,329
Accumulated depreciation ZHiE (3,930) (28) (15) (3,973)
Net carrying amount HREHE 316 17 23 356
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16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RMBARIZIRE
Company
A H
2015 2014
—ZE-EHF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JEETARD - AR 782 782
The particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March ARARIZHMBRARN _E—RF=A=+—H
2015 are as follows: ZEIBIT
Place of Issues and Attributable equity
incorporation/ fully paid interests held by
Name operation share capital the Company Principal activities
AL, BETR NN
=L EEMmE HERRA P s A PR A TEXH
Direct Indirect
HiE fel
China Equity Assets Holdings  Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Investment holding
Limited
hEREEEEEERAA B 1787T 100% - REEK
Master Smooth Investment Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Investment holding
Development Limited
BERREERARLNF Bt 1787T - 100%  #&EEK
Eternal Fame Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
XEEEBRAA Bt 10,0007 7T - 100%  #&EEK
Able Surplus Corporation Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Limited
BEREXERAF Bt 10,0007& 7T - 100%  HwEEER
Perfect Worth Investment British Virgin Islands Us$100 100% - Investment holding
Limited ("BVI")/Hong Kong
REBERES 10037 100% - REEK
((EBgREs]),/
B
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Place of

incorporation/
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

Issues and
fully paid

Attributable equity

interests held by

16. REKBARIZRE (&)

Name operation share capital the Company Principal activities
AL, BBTK YN
=L EEMR HRERAE P AL MR R TEXEH
Direct Indirect
HE %
Smart Access Capital Limited ~ BVI/Hong Kong Us$100 100% - Investment holding
RBRRES/BA 100%7T 100% - REEK
Urban Thrive Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
REBURRS/BA 50,000 %7 100% - REER
Moonglory International BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
Properties Limited EBEREE/BE 50,0005 7T 100% - BREER
Giant Treasure Global Limited BVI/Hong Kong us$1 100% - Dormant
RBERREBE 1%L 100% - EBEXK
Ray Wealth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Dormant
Bt 18T - 100%  EEX%
Global QOasis Corporation Hong Kong HK$1 100% - Dormant
Limited Bt 1787 100% - EEXK
Joy Famous International Hong Kong HK$1 - 100%  Dormant
Investment Limited
TRERBIR R E AR A B 18T - 100%  EEXH
Haobin Financial Services PRC RIMB 10,000,000 - 100%  Dormant
(Shenzhen) Company Limited
a2 BARES CRYID FE A 10,000,000 - 100%  EEEG

BRAF]

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

N

B N AR R B 79 ] By PR 45 B AT
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. A—XBE QAR ZER
2015 2014
—E—RF —ZT—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Share of net assets of an associate SME—FKMERRIZEERE 6,084 6,170
(@) Details of the Group's associate at 31 March 2015 is as (@) AKEBEzBEATAR-_FT—HE=HA
follows: =+—BHZFHBWT:
Percentage
Place of Issued and fully of equity  Proportion
incorporation/ paid registered held by of voting  Principal
Name of associate operation capital  the Group power  activity
B ERTR AKEMHE
BREARER EiE 2 BEEMERX REEILE RBREELH FEER
Bonicast Construction Material ~ People’s Republic Registered 49% 20%  Trading of
(Beijing) Co., Ltd of China RMB10,000,000 (note) construction
("Bonicast”) ("PRC") materials
BEEEEEMH HiEE AR HAE EEa i 49% 20% EMES
(R ERAA ) AR # 10,000,000 7T (PR 5E)
((g&EX])

Note: The Group is able to exercise significant influence over ek : AEBEEAHEERETHEEATE
Bonicast because it has the power to appoint one out of N REAREEAERIRZ A AEL
five directors of that company under the articles of ERANEZEZ AR ARESTHER —
association of that company. & o
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued) 17. R—REE QR 2#=R (&)
(b) Summarised financial information in respect of Bonicast, b) AEEFEBZ2ARSEERECLUBE
which is a material associate to the Group is set out R ZEFH ST
below:
2015 2014
—E-EfF —Z -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
As at 31 March R=A=+—H
Current assets MENVEE 12,450 13,757
Non-current assets IEMENE EE - -
Current liabilities B A E (34) (1,165)
Net assets BEFE 12,416 12,592

Reconciliation to the Group’s interest 1K EE B R L B & A A

in the associate: AR
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REB 2 AL 49% 49%
Group's share of net assets of REE DL g R A

the assets of the associate ZEBE 6,084 6,170
Carrying amount of the associate Bt N BlIEREE 6,084 6,170
Included in the above amounts are: FTALUEZEE -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 2 46

Current financial liabilities (excluding KA E(TBIEES
trade and other payables) JE {=F R T8 K HL Al FE AT 5RIE ) - =
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17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (continued)

17. R—RBE QR 28 (&)

(b)  (continued) b) (&)
2015 2014
—E-AEF —T e
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FHBT
Year ended 31 March BE=A=+—HLEE
Revenue W zs - 30,111
(Loss)/profit from operation RAKEER 7 (B1E), 51 (14) 17
Total comprehensive income T HEWRAARE (41) 136
Group's share of result of an associate ~ AEESE—KEt & QA7) 2 XA (8) 7
Included in the above amounts are: FTAU EZEE -
Depreciation and amortisation T s I 5 - (25)
Interest income FILEUA - -
Income tax expense FiS 8 - 3)
18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18. JHEMKEE
GROUP COMPANY
AEE PN
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HE —E=NFE ZEB-HF —=NOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT THET FAT
Unlisted equity securities HREIE ETIRAES
in PRC, at cost RN 53,882 16,390 37,492 -
Fair value adjustment NEEFE 7,659 (1,490) 6,544 -
61,541 14,900 44,036 -
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(continued)

Particulars of investments in unlisted equity securities held by
the Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 disclosed pursuant

to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows:

Percentage of

For the year ended 31 March 2015 &=

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
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18. JHHEMBEE (&)

o el = N T

RELTRUFENEREZAKER _FT—H

FRZF—

EFREFBWT ¢

ME=HA=+—HPEELTRA

Place of effective
Name of investee companies incorporation interest held At cost Fair value adjustment Carrying value
FrisRR gL
BIRENAER AR 3L i 26 BAl REA NTERR REE
31/3/2015  31/3/2014  31/3/2015 31732014 31/3/2015  31/3/2014
“%-1f TR -¥-1Ff ZT-PF ZR-5f CZFQF
ZA=+t-B =A=+-A ZA=t-B =ZA=t-H =A=+-H =A=t-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ThR TRT TARL TR TER TATL
Tianjin Bao Xin Ying Precious Metals ~ PRC 12.00% 6,590 6,590 3,498 510 10,088 7,100
Management Limited ("Bao Xin")
(note (iii))
AEBBRECBLEARA i
(FE&E ) (K i)
Guangzhou Shi Da Jian Credit PRC 11.59% 9,800 9,800 (2,383) (2,000) 7417 7,800
Guarantee Limited
(EMTmERERERARAA)
("Da Jian") (note (iv))
BNmERERERERAR i
(FE8 ) (M (v)
China Petroleum Bio-Energy Hong Kong 5.69% 24,400 - 3,511 - 27911 -
Company Limited
("Bio-Energy") (note (v)
RERRENERERAR B
(TEmaeiR ) (Bt )
Yenbo Gain Limited ("Yenbo Gain”) ~ BVI 18.18% 13,092 = 3,033 - 16,125 =
(note (vi))
BENERAR(REN) (M) XBERNS
53,882 16,390 7,659 (1,490 61,541 14,900
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(continued)

36

Note:

(i)

The investments in Bao Xin, Da Jian and Yenbo Gain are
measured at fair value and classified as Level 3 fair value
measurement. The fair values of unlisted equity securities are
determined by reference to the valuation carried out by an
external independent valuer by using Guideline Publicly
Traded Company method with reference to similar listed
companies and adjusted to reflect the specific circumstance of
the investments. The significant unobservable inputs are as
follows:

18. JHEMBKEE (&

Wi

(i)

Bao Xin

REER  ERRBBENZRETIARTFER
B WHEREIRDFEE - I LHRA
B Z A FEDHE2ZINEB L HEMER L
MARIESDEEL 2 AE - BRABEDESE
KL LT A R R Bt R B B R A RS AE 38
B ERTABRBAZBBENT :

Da Jian

pe3 -

Yenbo Gain

HER BHEF

Lack of marketability discount rate BT SR LI &
Da Jian and Yenbo Gain were valued by a price-to-book ratio
multiple of comparable listed companies, Bao Xin applied a
weighted approach of price to EBITDA ratio, price to EBIT
ratio, price to net income rate and price to book ratio of
comparable listed companies. A discount was applied to
reflect the lack of marketability of the unlisted investments.

If the lack of marketability discount rate was 5% higher/lower
while all other variables were held constant, the carrying
amount of the investments in Bao Xin, Da Jian and Yenbo Gain
would decrease/increase by approximately HK$505,000 (2014:
HK$400,000), HK$93,000 (2014: HK$100,000) and HK$806,000
(2014: HKS$nil) respectively.

The investment in Bio-Energy is measured at fair value and
classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair value of
Bio- Energy is determined by reference to the valuation carried
out by an external independent valuer by using Discounted
Cash Flow method. The significant unobservable inputs are as
follows:

Lack of marketability discount rate 30%

Lack of control discount rate 10%
If the lack of marketability and control discount rates were 5%
higher/lower while all other variables were held constant, the
carrying amount of the investments in Bio- Energy would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$820,000.
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(ii)

50% 20% 50%
ERIBEANTZAELBR EM AR HRE
BHMGE - BEAERBMESL  ZUELRE
MABNERLEHGRAE - BIE - I8 R H
RIE AL - A8 E IR B R IHR B
R BREFRALLEARTERREE - 25
[RERFZEIE TR A R 5 8 1 T AN ARE
iH o

iR = T3Z @ BRI R A TN % 5% + i
FIEEMEEERTE  AREER  ERK
BENZHEEEESE D BB 38n4
505,000 7t ( = Z — Y 4F : 400,000/ 7T ) *
93,0007 7T ( = & — U 4 : 100,0007% 7t ) &
806,000/ L (=T —O4 « &) -

RNEYMRRZREARNTERNE AN BERE
SMATERE - EMERZATFEDELE
SNBSS (A {ERDE ARR R &M EAIEH 216
EEE - EATABEBABENT

fRZ T i i\ B B = 30%
FRZ PR HIRERL TR & 10%

MR TSR R bR R R EF Rk
5% MATEEMEEERFTE  BIREMEE
R ERE AR D15 1149820,0007 7T
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ = —AF=A=+—HIFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

(continued)
Note: (continued)

(iii)

On 29 May 2013, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with vendors pursuant to which the
Company has agreed to acquire from the vendors the entire
sale shares and the sale loan of Moonglory International
Properties Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI for a
total consideration of HK$6,590,000, which effectively held 12%
equity interest in Bao Xin. This company is a PRC established
company and principally engaged in the trading of precious
metals and gold products and investment advisory in Tianjin,
the PRC.

On 13 May 2013, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with vendors pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to acquire from the vendors
the entire sale shares and the sale loan of Urban Thrive Limited,
a company incorporated in the BVI for a consideration of
HK$7,500,000 by issuing 15,000,000 shares (“Consideration
Shares 1”) at an issue price of HK$0.5 per share, effectively held
11.59% equity interest in Da Jian. This company is a PRC
established company and principally engaged in providing
credit guarantee service in the PRC. The acquisition was
completed on 21 January 2014.

As at the completion date, the Group issued the Consideration
Shares | at market quoted price of HK$1.86 per share to the
vendor, and the total cost of the Consideration Shares | was
HK$27,900,000. However, the fair value of the investment in Da
Jian was HK$9,800,000, which is the initial cost of investment in
Da Jian, and a loss on forward purchase contract of
HK$18,100,000 is recognised in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2014.

18. JHEMBKEE (&

i

(iii)

(iv)

(%)

R-ZB—Z=FRAA_tNH ARBREETF]
Y EE G Bt ARARRERE S EER
&M R B S & M K S ZMoonglory
International Properties Limited 2 #34F& i& (%D
R 5 & B 8K E 56,590,000 TT o
Moonglory International Properties Limited &
BRAEEERZ 12%E - ERR/NHBIK
VZAR FERFRRENE=ECERES
Ui B B A RIRE T AR -

R-ZF—=FRA+=8  RXARBEEHFL
BEEWZ - Bt - NARAKERERER K
B TR B 4 L BE B s i K 32 2 Urban Thrive
Limited &2 A E R RIGFEER - BBUAE
1T{B & 1% 0.5 7T % 17 15,000,000 % A& 15 ([ X
B iR 17 11) % {3 1 87,500,000 JT ° Urban
Thrive Limited B BRFF A ZH# 2 11.59% IRHE -
FERANFEKY 2 AT FERP BN ER
HEEERRE - LWBEKREER =T —HF—
A=+—HB%K-

RIEK B - NREFRMISRETR1.86457T
MERETRERMD - RERMD I ZBKRAR
27,900,000/ 7T © AT - WERER 2 N TFE
#59,800,0008 7T (TIRER 2 FIFIREKA) -
iz EAfE E & #) 2 &1 18,100,000 % 7T Th I &L
BT NF=A=t+—RALLFEZE=PE

e

387
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18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

(continued)
Note: (continued)

33

(v)

On 2 May 2014 and 12 June 2014, the Company entered into
four sale and purchase agreements with vendors and a
subscription agreement with Bio-Energy, pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to acquire and subscript
from vendors and Bio- Energy the shares of Bio-Energy, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong by issuing 5,755,102
shares (“Consideration Shares |1”) and paying cash
consideration of HK$13,800,000. Upon completion of the
transactions, the Company effectively held 5.69% of the
enlarged capital of Bio-Energy. The company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in research, development
and promotion of biomass energy and other agricultural
related products. One of its subsidiaries has obtained the
development and operation right of a piece of land in Xinjiang
Province, the PRC, which is under construction and plantation
of bio-oil crops and shelter belt plants.

As at the completion dates, the Group issued the
Consideration Shares Il at market quoted price of HK$1.77 to
HK$1.88 per share to the vendors. The fair value of the
investment in Bio-Energy was approximately HK$24,400,000
which is the initial cost of investment in Bio-Energy.

On 12 August 2014, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with vendor pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to acquire from vendor the
5.26% equity interest of Yenbo Gain for a consideration of
HK$3,273,000 by issuing 2,045,625 shares at an issue price of
HK$1.6 per share. On the same day, the Company entered into
a subscription agreement with Yenbo Gain pursuant to which
Yenbo Gain agreed to issue subscription shares to the
Company, which represented 15.79% equity interest of Yenbo
Gain as at that date for a consideration of HK$9,819,000. Upon
completion of the transactions, the Company effectively held
18.18% of the enlarged capital of Yendo Gain. Yenbo Gain is
incorporated in BVI and it and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in cultivation and research of the fine and new
varieties forest products together with the research and
promotion of product cultivation technology for producing
clean energy purposes.
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18. JHEMBKEE (&

i

(v)

(vi)

(%)

R-E—NFRA—BE_ZT—NF A+
B AARELEE SN EE &R
RE B EM S 2 £ WAL TR ET S — 10 R 1
BB ARABERGRES BT
5,755,102 i i& 5 (TR ER B 1)) REZAAR SR
18 13,800,000 7% 7T 1M & 75 & A4 ¥ e R UK B 1 7R
BEMRERZ RN - RRSTHEF - ARBE
B A ERE IR 2 AR IRAND.69% © %A Al
REME AR EZ&EHE0IEEYL R
BIEYHBBAERKFRT  FEMERE - HTE
F—RINBARBEFBEES — R T2
B - T IE AR A M E R EHEY
LA Bk 7258 B s o

REKBE - NREEREGR1.7787TE1.887%
T2 TSHRERE G ZTRERMI - HER
EEEIR 2 N FAE X 5 24,400,007 7T (ThR A
WIREIRZ FARE KA °

R-Z-—MENA+=B  AATEE 7
BB Bt AARAKERERE K
% 2B F| 2 5.26% i & + X {B /3,273,000
T BBRIRETRI60B T 2 HITE BT
2,045,625 RIRA 2 ~F - RAIB » AR R EEA
BRI RE R - Bt REFNRZAAR
RIBTHERBEFE B 15.79% R E 2R
Bt - RIEA9,819,00078 7T ° MR 5 5eRE
ARRBERFERE R 2 ERAARZ18.18% ©
BENNEE S RBES MR + iH REH
BRAREBELBERERAZ REEE KM
mIEME - DARAEAEREEIRA B MRS
THTRFF2E R HEE o
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

18. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 18.
(continued)
The following is the analysis of fair value change of available-

AHEMBEE(E)

IWTRNEAHENBEEREE S —AF R
T—ME=A=1+—HItFERAFEFEZ
ANFEEZE DT

for-sale financial assets that are measured at fair value for the
years ended 31 March 2015 and 2014:

Change in fair value during the
year ended 31 March
BE=A=t-HALFEZ

AFESE
2015 2014
—E2-RF —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Unlisted equity securities issued by: AT ARIETZ
FE_ TR AR 5
— Bao Xin —EER 2,988 510
— Da Jian — ER (383) (2,000)
— Bio-Energy — EYREIR 3,511 -
— Yenbo Gain — ABEF 3,033 =
9,149 (1,490)

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS

19.

BAVEFATESRECMKEE

GROUP AND COMPANY

AEBERAEAT
2015 2014
—B-RF —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Hong Kong listed equity securities, BB EHIRAES -
at market value (note (a)) EHE (FEE(a) 7,298 20,282
Investments in convertible bonds, TER AR ES -
at fair value (note (b)) 2N TE (T EE (b)) 21,832 7,513
29,130 27,795
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. BAFEF AZTERREZHKEE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) (&)

(@)  Particulars of investments of listed equity securities held @ BEEMBUNENERBEZAEERZ
by the Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 disclosed T—NERZT—=F=A=+—HMN
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: FEMRAZFIREFBAOT -

2015 —ZE—HF
Accumulated
unrealised
gain/(loss)
Percentage of arisingon  Change in
Name of investee companies Note  Number of shares held interest held Cost Marketvalue  revaluation fair value
EffE4Y
fiss Zit K2R
BERENAER g FERH#HE At H& wE ki/(F8)  AVERE
2015 2015
“5-1f “8-if

HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
TR TR TR TR

CITIC Limited ("CITIC") {) 30,000 ordinary shares 0.0001% 482 398 (84) (84)

pEREROERAF(HE]) 30,000 &R

China Fiber Optic Network System Group i) 600,000 ordinary share 0.0344% 1,453 1,260 (193) (193)
Limited ("China Fiber")

PEREREZAERRRAR (PEXE]) 600,000 R E Bk

Maanshan Iron & Steel Co. Limited (ii) 150,000 ordinary share 0.0019% 357 335 (22) (22)
("Maanshan Iron & Steel”)

SHLAERAERAR(FHLHE]) 150,000 & K%

Echo International Holdlings Group Limited () 2,792,000 ordinary share 1.3960% 5,040 4,691 (349) (349)
("Echo Intemational”)

#m (BB EhEEERAD (HRER ) 2792000 Bk

CSR Corporation Limited ("CSR Corporation”) (v 60,000 ordinary share 0.0004% 576 614 38 38

rEFEROERAF (PEHE]) 60,000 R 1Bk
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. BAFEF AZTERREZHKEE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) (%)
(@) (continued) @@ (&)
2014 —= e
Accumulated
unrealised
gain/{loss)
Percentage of arising on Changein
Name of investee companies Number of shares held interest held Cost  Marketvalue  revaluation fair value
BffEEy
iR AR
EXRERAER FHRIEE aalt A mE  hiE/(BE)  ATEEY
2014 2014
“E3-mE =
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Thn TEn
China Investment and Finance Group Limited 1,228,000 ordinary shares 0.2111% 864 651 213 197
HEREEEEERAR 1,208 00 &k
China Everbright Intemational Limited 100,000 ordinary share 0.0022% 1,060 1,062 2 2
HERAERERA 100,000 &A%
Beijing Jingneng Clean Energy Co, Limited 40,000 ordinary share 0.0006% 148 142 (6) (6)
IRRER RS ARG ERAT 400005 E Rk
GuangZhou Baiyunshan Pharmaceutical 6,000 ordinary share 0.0005% 157 158 1 1
Holdings Company Limited
ENAZLBEEERAERA 6,000 B MK
Lenovo Group Limited 20,000 ordinary share 0.0002% 172 M (] 0]
BEEERRAR 200005E @K
Kingworld Medicines Group Limited 20,000 ordinary share 0.0032% 5 44 (14) (14)

SREEEEARAT

200005E @K
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. BAFEF AZTERREZHKEE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) (&)
(@) (continued) @@ (&)
2014 —ZT—F
Accumulated
unrealised
gain/{loss)
Percentage of arising on Changein
Name of investee companies Number of shares held interest held Cost  Marketvalue  revaluation fair value
BffEEy
iR AR
EXRERAER FHRIEE aalt A mE i/ (BE)  ATESE
2014 2014
“E3-mE =

HK$/000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TAn TAn TER AL

Ford Glory Group Holdings Limited 16,000 ordinary share 0.0036% 50 - (50) (50)
BREEERERAR 16,000 E &

Perfect Optronics Limited 30,000 ordinary share 0.0023% 34 3% 1 1
EXrEERARA 30,000 L@k

Larry Jewelry International Company Limited 125,700,000 ordinary share 4.9411% 15,270 17,598 2,328 2328
B EREBERAT 125,700,000 Z &%

Econtext Asia Limited 60,000 ordinary share 0.0116% 39 244 (148) (148)
BoREERAR 60,000 B

China Fiber Optic Network System Group 88,000 ordinary share 0.0060% 198 177 (20) (20)

Limited
RS REZGEEERDR 88,000 &
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ = —AF=A=+—HIFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(@  (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(ii)

CITIC was incorporated in Hong Kong and the share of
which are listed on Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 267). CITIC was an investment
holding company and its subsidiaries were engaged in
financial services, resources and energy, manufacturing,
engineering contracting, real estate and infrastructure as
well as other businesses. For the financial year ended 31
December 2014, the audited consolidated profit
attributable to equity holders of CITIC was
approximately HK$39,834,000,000 with both basic and
diluted profit per share of HK$1.6. As at 31 December
2014, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to
the Company was approximately HK$693,000. No
dividend was received during the year ended 31 March
2015.

China Fiber was incorporated in Cayman Islands and the
share of which are listed on Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 3777). China Fiber
was an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
were engaged in manufacture and sale of a full spectrum
of active and prime optical interconnection equipment.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2014, the
audited consolidated profit attributable to equity
holders of China Fiber was approximately
RMB425,111,000 with basic and diluted profit per share
of RMBO0.275 and RMBO0.267 respectively. As at 31
December 2014, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to the Company was approximately
RMB1,009,000. No dividend was received during the
year ended 31 March 2015.

19. BRAFEFACREEEZUBEE
(&

@ (#)
X

(i) RIERBEBEMARNL « DR E B
RETEMR LT (RS  267) ° Rz
BA—REEERAR - mEKEA A
NESBMR BRREER 838 T
BEcE  BHERERAREMIER -
BE-Z—MNE+=B=+—HIBK
FE - PElERRE ARGEEZEE
i I 49 % 39,834,000,0005% 7T © &R
REEERNA1.6BT - R —
F+-A=+—8 ' AAREHLZAF
IR B AR A B E R E A 7693,0007
e MERBE—T—AF=A=1—
A IEFEREBERRS

(i)  HEXENRSRSEMKRSL - ARG
BB BT E R i (AR AR
3777) - BN B —REREERA
A MEMNBARNKER2RIGRR
ERAEESRMERCEEREE - B
E-TFE+-HA=+—RBIFBF
B - B s A AR E AR
A A /AR A425111,0007T © &
P B 7R B 5% 5 M 0 Bl s AR % 0.275
TRAR®027T N =T —MF
TZA=+—RH ' ARFEEZARZ
RECEEBEEFRENABARE
1,009,007 - MEREE T — A5
Z A=+ B LEFERBEMRE -
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

94

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Maanshan Iron & Steel was incorporated in PRC and the
share of which are listed on Main Board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 323). Maanshan Iron
& Steel was engaged in metallurgy and extended
processing of ferrous metals; production and sale of
coke, coke chemical products, thermostatic materials
and power supply; dock operation, storage,
transportation, trading and other iron and steel related
business; extended processing of iron and steel
products, production and sale of metallic products; steel
framework, equipment production and related services;
maintenance of vehicles, recycling and processing of
discarded vehicles (limited to the internally discarded
vehicles); provision of construction and related services;
decoration services (activities within qualification
certificates); and rendering of technological services and
consultancy services. For the financial year ended 31
December 2014, the audited consolidated profit
attributable to equity holders of Maanshan Iron & Steel
was approximately RMB220,616,025 with both basic and
diluted profit per share of RMB0.0286. As at 31
December 2014, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to the Company was approximately
RMB504,000. No dividend was received during the year
ended 31 March 2015.

Echo International was incorporated in Cayman Islands
and overseas and the share of which are listed on GEM
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
8218). Echo International was engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of electronic products and
accessories. For the financial year ended 31 March 2015,
the audited consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of Echo International was approximately
HK$12,631,000 with basic and diluted loss per share of
HK$6.3 cents. As at 31 March 2015, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to the Company was
approximately HK$557,000. No dividend was received
during the year ended 31 March 2015.
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(%&)
X

(iii)

(iv)

19. BRAFEFACREEEZUBEE

(%)

B8 LA B EEMA L - ERRHD R
EABIAMER Em(R MR :
323) - BERILME 2 EBBREEESRE
TBRREBENT : EHER - SE(E
TER BRMEREEES 28R
9B B E5RHEMMAMEE
B2 555 SHEE M 2 BN T REH
CBEM: £EME RERBEBR
1 ERE BRI T EEER
(ARIESEHAR)  RERERHE
R HIERB(AHEEEZRE)
VA R B2 AR B0 AR 75 S BB RS AR 75 © Bl = =
T—FE+-A=+—BIEMRFE -
B8ILMEERSA ARGEEZEE
i A 4 B AR #5220,616,025 7T © F &
BEARREES R A AR 0.02867T ° 14
—T—ME+-—A=+—8 " KADEE
HZ AR ZEERISEEEFENAA
K #504,0007T - BIESREE T —

F=ZA=+—ALFERIERBRE -

BaBEE NSRS M - EARG
B AR FTAIZER £ (AR 1D SR -
8218) - B BB EE FERREHF
ZHERBS BE-_ZT—AF=A
=+—HIEFMBEE - e EEERS
EAELRERGEABENAR
12,631,000 7 + BIREAR R #EEEE
B63B - RZE—RHE=ZA=+—
B AARELZARZEEZGEE
EEFEH A557,0008 7T - BESREE
—T-AF=A=t+—HIFEKRRE
fATRR &, o
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(@)  (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(v)

CSR Corporation was incorporated in PRC and the share
of which are listed on Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1766). CSR Corporation was
engaged in research and development, manufacturing,
sales, refurbishment and leasing of locomotives,
passenger, freight wagons, MUS, rapid transit vehicles
and key components as well as other businesses that
utilize proprietary rolling stock technologies. For the
financial year ended 31 December 2014, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of CSR
Corporation was approximately RMB5,314,967,000 with
both basic and diluted profit per share of RMB0.39. As at
31 December 2014, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to the Company was approximately
RMB236,000. No dividend was received during the year
ended 31 March 2015.

The fair values of the Group's investment in listed equity

securities are based on quoted market price.

19. BRAFEFACREEEZUBEE
(&

(@) (#&)
BeE : (&)

v)  FEEERFEEMK  ERORE
PEES AT E MR LT (R RSR : 1766) ©
REREEEBERE  £E
E BHLAEKSE FES - FE
48 Wb S R R e B AR A SR EL A
FREEHNBEBEHRIT 2 EH - &
E-T—NF+-A=+—HIHEF
& - PR B RS RE ABLEEZER
AR KA ARKS,314,967,0007T © &
MREA RS A ARE 0397 « B
—T—ME+-—A=+—8 " KADEE
IEZ AR ZEERISEEEFENAA
K#236,0007T - BiEFREE_T—H
F=ZA=+—ALFERIERBRE -

REBER TR 2 RE R FEMN
PR (E R IR ©
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 19. BAFEF AZTEZEEZ2HKEE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) (%)

(b) Particulars of investments in convertible bonds held by (b) WREBELMBRAENEFREZAEBR -
the Group as at 31 March 2015 and 2014 disclosed T-RERZE-MF=A=+—BFM
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: FHRE R A RESFIB AT -

Name of investee Place of Unlisted debt securities,
companies incorporation at cost Fair value adjustment Carrying value
BERENRER TR Lt 3 FLEmESES  RRAE AYERE REE

31/3/2015  31/3/2014  31/3/2015  31/3/2014  31/3/2015  31/3/2014
~2-Ef ZT-QmF  ZR-EF ZT-MF —F-EF 0 CFQF
=A=+-B =A=+-B Z=A=+t-BH =A=+—-H =HA=+-H =A=1+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T

Venture Champion Limited ~ BVI - 6,600 - 913 - 7,513
(note (i)
Venture Champion Limited ERARES
(P=E ()
Guanwan Investments BVI 20,000 - 1,832 - 21,832 -
Limited (note (ii))
BEREERAR HBERAES
(P i)
20,000 6,600 1,832 913 21,832 7513
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(i)

(ii)

On 29 June 2012, the Company invested in the 3%
unsecured convertible bonds issued by Venture
Champion Limited. (“Venture”) at a face value of
HK$6,600,000, bearing coupon interest rate of 3%
per annum. Venture is an investment holding
company and its business is principally engaged in
professional stage performance and provision of
training in art and cultural activities in the PRC.
The convertible bonds due on June 2016 are
convertible into fully paid ordinary shares of
Venture with a par value of USD1.00 each at a
conversion price of HK$200,000 per share. The
Company can exercise the conversion at anytime
until the maturity date. As at 31 July 2014, the
convertible bonds in the principal amount of
HK$6,600,000 with accrued interest up to 31 July
2014 amounting to approximately HK$327,000 was

fully redeemed by the issuer.

On 22 December 2014, the Company invested in
the 3% unsecured convertible bonds issued by
Guanwan Investments Limited (“Guanwan”) at a
face value of HK$20,000,000, bearing coupon
interest rate of 3% per annum. Guanwan is an
investment holding company which indirectly hold
100% shares of its subsidiary, &I & iERE SR
DA ("RREE"). RE
designing , manufacturing and retail of women'’s
dress in PRC. Each convertible bond due on 22
December 2017 are convertible into 24 fully paid

is principally engaging in

ordinary shares of Guanwan with a par value of
USD1.00 each at a conversion price of HK$833,333
per conversion share. The Company can exercise

the conversion at any time until the maturity date.

19. BAFEFAERBREZMBEEE
(%)
() (#)

() RZT—Z=-FRAZTILB K2R
7] #& & M Venture Champion
Limited ([Venture |) 317 2 3 & %
EIR AT AR RS - %Zi?ﬁ%?ﬁﬁi%
6,600,000 7T * REFEMEEF3

E& B oVenture B EER A
A HEEXEBLARFBRRERE
ﬁﬁﬁ'\%ﬁéﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁmtﬁﬁﬁﬁz
=l T—RFERNRAEH A
@H&%%mﬂﬁﬂﬂgﬂﬁzoo,ooo
75 T 5, 2 & Venture & IR B 1.00
ETTZ B RN EBAR - RAF A
EIE B RIPE R TR AR - R
T—MELA=+—0H XeBER
6,600,000 7% 7T 2 AJ #2 f& 15 25 & [
2HET-MFELA=+—0R
81#)327,00078 7T 2 M B EIT A
2 EEE o

(i) RZT—NF+ZA=+=ZH &
RNEFERBEEIREGR AR ([E
%D% T2 3[E K 4 AT R AR &
% 25 &% EE 420,000,000 7
EBENEGFIEHNE oW
BRIEEERAR - Fﬁ&wﬁﬁ[&ﬁ
BRRAFYSHBREGRA
Ui%%DZM%h@O%%ﬁ
FEERREREZERT FER
TE -BHRZZE—EF+=A
= AR 2 AR S Al iRk
P fE SR 833,333 B T ATE
FAREE 1.00 7T 2 58 IRGRE
AR 24 8% o N2 R A] RA B BA B A BE
P17 {58 AR AE o

+

Hltﬁf
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19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)
(b)  (continued)

(ii)

98

(continued)

Investments in convertible bonds represent
investments in convertible bonds issued by
Guanwan. The investments in the convertible
bonds have debt components and embedded
derivatives components. The directors of the
Company designated the combined contracts as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
and recognised at fair value. The fair value of the
combined contracts as at 31 March 2015 is
determined by reference to the valuation carried
out by an external independent valuer by using
Discounted Cash Flow Method and Binominal
Option Pricing Model. The inputs are as follows:

19. BAFEFAERBREZMBEEE
(%)
() (#)

iy (&)
BENARREHFERERNT S5
T2 AR E S o AR I HRARE
HFEEEB DB RRAXITELA
HD - AREIERIEEAHENA
BRAFEFAEBRSREZ HHE
E - WIRAFERER - &HEHR
—E-RFEZA=+—RHZA¥E
THAR IR — 8 HNEP¥E S (B A 57 B
BHEeREAR - BAHEEEE
AFEMEMERE - Al AR
T

Guanwan

bt

Underlying share price MR (E HK$902,935 47T
Number of share outstanding FITHEINR D 100
Conversion price per share BREBE HK$833,333/8 7T
Time to maturity FI| BB 2.7 years
Interest rate per annum FFIE 3%
Discount rate AL 3R = 19.97%
Dividend yield iR S F & 0%
Risk free rate o B ) = 3.281%
Volatility R R 48.75%

The significant unobservable inputs used in the
fair value measurement are the underlying share
price and expected volatility. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the

underlying share price and expected volatility.
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

19. BRAFEFACREEEZUBEE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) (4&)
(b)  (continued) ) (&)
(i)  (continued) i (&)
As at 31 March 2015, it is estimated that with all RZZE—RF=A=+—H ' {&&"
other variables held constant, an increase/ B EMEBEERTEBERT
decrease in the expected volatility by 5% would T8 HA R 18 38 0, > 5% 1§ E B
have increased/decreased the carrying amount of & AR E I 0,6 2> 49 176,000 7
the investment by approximately HK$176,000/ 7T,/ 139,000 77T °
HK$139,000.
In addition, it is estimated that with all other AN - (HETFEFTA B E T
variables held constant, an increase/decrease in BIERT - ABRERE LT RER5%
the underlying share prices by 5% would have 1B BIR A RE B I,/ A4
increased/decreased the carrying amount of the 808,000 75,784,000 7 7T °
investment by approximately HK$808,000/
HK$784,000.
20. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 20. HttEWRIE - HERFANKIE
PREPAYMENTS
GROUP COMPANY
AEH PN
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —FT-WE —ZT-HF _—TIOF
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET THERT FAET
Interest receivable JFE WA B 161 263 161 263
Prepayments TRfTEIE 701 927 670 887
Other receivables and H b pE Wk IE &
deposits paid (note (a)) 2R 4E (st () 89,634 21,380 89,623 21,371
90,496 22,570 90,454 22,521
Notes: BT -
(@)  The Group's other receivables and deposits paid were mainly @ RITE-RF=A=+—H FAEEZH{BE
refundable deposits paid for potential investments in amount WHRIEREMNREEFEREEREZEMNATR
of HK$89,000,000 as at 31 March 2015 (2014: HK$18,000,000). # & ©89,000000% w( = T — M F:
18,000,000 7T)
(b)  The directors consider that the carrying amount of other b) EFRR HMEKKIE - RERENKEZ

receivables, deposits and prepayments approximately their fair

value.

RE(EEAENFERS -
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21. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 21. |RITRREHETF
GROUP COMPANY
REE KA F]
2015 2014 2015 2014

—E-EF —T—NWFE ZZE-HF —T—OF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000

THET FHET FET FHET
Bank balances RITETF 2,193 28,058 2,160 28,049
Fixed deposits TFHITER - 45,025 - 45,025

2,193 73,083 2,160 73,074
The effective interest rate of the deposits in 2015 range from —E-REERZEBRFNENF0.001% =
0.001% to 1.1% (2014: 0.001% to 0.9%) per annum and all of 11%(ZZ— M4 : 0.001%£09%) * FTA 15
them have a maturity within three months from initial TR BT ERER LT =@ AR FE -
inception.

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES/ 22. EW (ER)MBAR, —GES

A DIRECTOR MIE

GROUP AND COMPANY

AEBRADF
2015 2014
—E-EfF —Z—mF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET T
Amount due to a director Rt —FEEHIE - 1,680

COMPANY
PN

2015 2014
—E—FE —Z—OF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEULH B A B3k 1E 41,218 40,812
Less: Impairment losses recognised B BRI EEE (26,474) (6,474)
14,744 34,338
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

22. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES/A 22.

DIRECTOR (continued)

The movement in the impairment losses recognised for

amount due from subsidiaries is as follows:

BW (EM)KMEBAR, —BES
FIE (&)

BIEYIH BN R IR R 2 BEBREZ N
T

COMPANY
KA H

2015 2014
i —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THExT FHETT
Balance at 1 April R A —B 2 &8k 6,474 6,474
Less: Impairment losses recognised B BERREEE 20,000 -
Balance at 31 March R=A=+—Bz#&& 26,474 6,474

The amounts due are unsecured, interest free and repayable

on demand.

BRARNTATERN - R RARERER -
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23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. B4
GROUP AND COMPANY
FEERADT
Number of ordinary shares
ZREREA
at HK$0.01 at HK$0.001
per share per share HK$'000
SREE BREE
0.01387T 0.001 7T FTERT
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 RZZE—=FMA—BxK
—T-MFE=RA=+—H 10,000,000,000 - 100,000
Effect of share subdivision (note (g)) W An 14l 2 22 (FliFE(g) (10,000,000,000) 100,000,000,000 =
At 31 March 2015 RZT—AF=A=+—H - 100,000,000,000 100,000
Issued 28T
At 1 April 2013 RZZE—=FWA—H 644,850,760 - 6,449
Issue of shares (note (a)) BT (B sE @) 110,000,000 = 1,100
Shares issued in acquisition of U BE AR AR B B B 1T D
equity investments (note (b)) (M3 (b)) 15,000,000 = 150
Shares issued under share option RIS R 23T D
scheme (note (c)) GEIE) 2,600,000 - 26
At 31 March 2014 and 1 April 2014 R-F—NFE=A=1+—HAK
—T-NEMA—H 772,450,760 - 7,725
Issue of shares (note (d)) Z17R% M (KiEE(d) 22,000,000 - 220
Shares issued in acquisition of U BB IR AN IR B B 21T IR (D
equity investments (note (e)) (5T (e)) 7,800,727 - 78
Shares issued under share option RIRRE R AE ST 213 1T A D
scheme (note (f)) (MfzE () 32,000,000 = 320
Effect of share subdivision (note (g)) B FAZFZ (i (g) (834,251,487)  8,342,514,870 -
At 31 March 2015 RZZE—RF=A=1+—H - 8,342,514,870 8,343
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 #EZ = —AF=A=+—HIFE

23. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(@)

On 2 January 2014, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent conditionally agreed to place, to not less than six
placees for up to 70,000,000 new shares of the Company at a
price of HK$1.42 per placing share. The placing was completed
on 14 January 2014 and none of the placees became a
substantial shareholder after the completion of placing. The
aggregate nominal value of the placing share issued was
HK$700,000.

On 29 August 2013, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with a placing agent pursuant to which the placing
agent conditionally agreed to place, to one or more
independent placee(s) for up to 40,000,000 new shares of the
Company at a price of HK$0.50 per placing share. The placing
was completed on 10 September 2013 and the placee, an
independent third party, did not become a substantial
shareholder after the completion of placing. The aggregate
nominal value of the placing shares issued was HK$400,000.

On 13 May 2013, the Company entered into the agreement
with a vendor pursuant to which the Company conditionally
agreed to acquire and the vendor conditionally agreed to sell
the sales shares and sale loan for a total consideration of
HK7,500,000 by issuing 15,000,000 consideration shares at an
issue price of HK$0.5 per share. On 21 January 2014, issue of
share consideration was completed at market quoted price of
HK$1.86 per share and the aggregate nominal value of the
shares was HK$150,000.

On 27 January 2014, a total of 2,600,000 share options was
exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.2552, and total of
2,600,000 shares were issued with an aggregate nominal value
of HK$26,000.

On 20 August 2014, the Company entered into a placing
agreement with the placing agent pursuant to which the
placing agent conditionally agreed to place, to not less than six
placees for up to 22,000,000 new shares of the Company at a
price of HK$1.45 per placing share. The placing was completed
on 29 August 2014 and none of the placees became a
substantial shareholder after the completion of placing. The
aggregate nominal value of the placing shares issued was
HK$220,000.

23. RAEK(£E)

i

(@)

R-ZE—NE—A-H AARHEEERIET
VEEEHH Bt BEREBRERERE
MRARE AR 1.42 8 T 2 BI& » AR DR/ B
it A Bt & £ % 70,000,000 B& A& 2 RIFT A% (D ° AL
EFHER T NF—A+HBZTK - e
AREARREFETHKEKREZRR - FTE
TR AR (D 2 42 TE{E /& 700,000 AT ©

RZZ—=FNA=+NA ' AARERER
BIVERERH - Bt BEREBBRERE
R ERE SRR 0.508T 2 B - M—B3A
98 37 AR A BE & F 2 40,000,000 A& AS A R
BH e REEEENR _ZE—=FNLA+H%
B - MBRBMY S = 2 AR AL ERRES
BT B AEEIRR - FTEITRERN 22
& 4 400,000 77T °

R=F—=FRAF+=H ' AAREEFFIL
Wi Bt AARBAKRERERERESRE
BHERELEFERNKFEER  AREAR
7,500,000 7 BRAREBEERAERETEER
0.5 7T %17 15,000,000 A% X & B 19 32 1+ » A
—ZT—mFE—A=+—R8  BITAERGODE
TISHREGR1.86B LT - RN ZLEEER
150,000 7 7T °

RZZT—MHF—-A=++H " & %£2600,000
D EEEIR R (B 0.2552 /8 T TIE - & 2L 3%
772,600,000 %A% 15 * ABTE{E 5 26,0007 7T

R=ZZ—WFNA=ZTH  ARARHEEERE
SIS HE - Bt BEREREKERER
BRECEARMN 1,458 T 2 B - AADRANE
A BE AL & £ % 22,000,000 B 2N 2 BT ALAD °
REEHEER=_Z—NENA=-THLAZK
MEAREARREFETRKERAETERR
FrEs TR & AR5 2 4R E{E /&% 220,000 /& 7T ©
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23. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(e)

On 2 May 2014, the Company entered into an agreement with
a vendor to acquire the sale shares by issuing 3,755,102
consideration shares. On 9 June 2014, issue of consideration
shares has been completed at market quoted price of HK$1.88
per share and the aggregate nominal value of the shares was
HK$37,551.

On 12 June 2014, the Company entered into an agreement to
acquire additional sale shares with the same vendor by issuing
2,000,000 consideration shares. On 9 July 2014, issue of
consideration shares has been completed at market quoted
price of HK$1.77 per share and the aggregate nominal value of
the shares was HK$20,000.

On 12 August 2014, the Company entered into an agreement
with another vendor to acquire the sales shares by issuing
2,045,625 consideration shares at an issue price of HK$1.60 per
share. On 19 August 2014, issue of consideration shares has
been completed at the issue price and the aggregate nominal
value of the shares was HK$20,456.

During the year ended 31 March 2015, the subscription rights
attaching to 31,500,000 and 500,000 share options were
exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.2552 and HK$1.824
per share respectively, resulting in the issue of 32,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each with an aggregate nominal value of
HK$320,000.

Pursuant to the share subdivision on 2 January 2015, the
authorised share capital of the Company of HK$100,000,000
was divided into 100,000,000,000 subdivided shares, of which
8,342,514,870 subdivided shares were issued and fully paid.
After the shares subdivision, each of the existing issued and
unissued shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company was subdivided into ten subdivided
shares of par value of HK$0.001 each.
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23. RAEK(£E)

i

(e)

(%)

R-ZE—WERA—H  AAREEHLIH
& BIBBITI 75512 R EROKESFE
B1n o BITRERHERA=ZZT—HE~ANB
RIS RETK.88B LT - B’iD 2 BEE
737,551 87T °

RZZ—NFEAA+=8  AREHR—FH
RT3 W% 3B #8717 2,000,000 B A {8 17 1
BEERD - FTRERONEN-F-—MF£
ANBETSRESRI177BLTK  BRHZ
#BTEI{E.%3 20,0008 7T ©

R-ZE—WFENA+—B ARAREE—FH
RIS s ¢ BB EE1T2,045,625 R KB AR 5 Uk
BEERD - BITRBROER=ZZ—NEFN
A+NABIRETETK ROZLEER
20,456 7T

HE_Z-—RF=-A=+—HLEFEE " H5HB
31,500,000 1% K 500,000 15 & % # M 75 2 3R 08
EERBETNR0.25528 7T & 1.824 7 T ELT
£ ERBETEREEOB T Z KRG
32,000,000 % - #87E {E A& 320,000 745 7T ©

BRER=—T—AF— A BETZROFME
KA Az % E B 4100,000,0007% T 5 &
100,000,000,000f8 # # & B H
8,342,514,870 % # M Rx 17 /& B 21T R B IR
e RIEHDIFMAE  NARBRAFSREE
001 BT ZREBBITRABITRGIFA AT
A& AR E1E 0.001 BT Z IR AAXD ©
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24. RESERVES 24. #1E
COMPANY
YN
Investment Share
Share  revaluation option Accumulated
premium reserve reserves losses Total
REEM
R E wE  BRERE RiER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT THT THT THT
At 1 April 2013 RZZ—=FNA—H 61,029 - 4,730 (44,385) 21,374
Loss for the year AEEER - - - (70,828) (70,828)
Total comprehensive income AEERERHAE
for the year - - - (70,828) (70,828)
Issue of shares ZITR D 118,300 - - = 118,300
Shares issued on acquisition of  WEERR AL A B 31Tk D
equity investments 27,750 = = = 27,750
Shares issued under share BEEREEIETR R
option scheme 930 - 291) - 639
Forfeiture of share option R EE R B S
expenses - - 872) 872 -
Recognition of share options TR Ea R - - 51,216 - 51,216
Share issue expenses IR 2 TR (797) = = = (797)
At 31 March 2014 R-ZE-ME=A=+—HRK
and 1 April 2014 —T-NFENA—H 207,212 - 54,783 (114,341) 147,654
Loss for the year rEEER - - - (108,410)  (108,410)
Other comprehensive income H it 2 m e
Change in fair value of available-  AJHENKEEEZ
for-sale financial assets AT EES) - 6,544 - - 6,544
Total comprehensive income AEEEENGLE
for the year - 6,544 - (108,410) (101,866)
Issue of shares TR 31,680 - - - 31,680
Shares issued on acquisition o UKEBRY AR & B
equity investments BT 13,795 - - - 13,795
Shares issued under share BIEERE 2
option scheme FTRAD 12,594 - (3,964) - 8,630
Recognition of share options REBIRIE - - 72,592 - 72,592
Share issue expenses MR EITR (263) - - - (263)
At 31 March 2015 RZE-RF=A=1—H 265,018 6,544 123,411 (222,751) (172,222)
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24.

25.

RESERVES (continued)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

E4]

24. & (E)
T AUEEAEXNESREE HERANY
-

Description and purpose

K B 8

Share premium

Bty B

Investment revaluation reserve

RESGHE

Exchange reserve

BEE L R 1

Share option reserve

BRI

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 9 April 2009 for
the primary purpose of providing incentive to directors and
eligible employees. Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors
of the Company may grant options to eligible employees,

including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

RBERACFHEBHEE

Gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified as available-

for-sale at fair value.

ARAFEERS BRI L ENBEEMEL 2 K HiE -

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign operations
into presentation currency.

B2 EREMRE I EBEEFEMEE 2 WS B8 -

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options to the
employees over the vesting period.

sh 55 B BRI A (B B IR R R AR R AT ST

25. BARERTE
ARFRRER -_ZEAFMANBBBRE
REMBIE B ([518)) - TZEMAED
EERAAKREE - BEHE ARRESE
AMALIKES (BEARAIRANBLRE
£) B A REAR ARG 2 B o BEE
N B AR AR B S (R (B 1008 T

subscribe for shares of the Company. Consideration of

HK$1.00 is payable by each grantee upon acceptance of an

option.

106 Annual Report 5 2015



China Investment Development Limited o #EI#% & FZEGR QA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 T 25 3 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

On 30 July 2013, the shareholders have approved the
refreshment of the 10% scheme mandate limit under the
Scheme of the Company in the annual general meeting. The
total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of
the shares of the company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
Option previously granted under the Schemes including
those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the
Scheme or exercised options will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the limit as “refreshed”. On 24 January
2014, the number of shares in respect of which options had
been granted to eligible persons under the Scheme was
64,430,000, representing 8.37% of the shares of the Company
in issue at that date. Options granted to independent non-
executive directors in excess of 0.1% of the Company's share
capital and with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be
approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders. On 25
August 2014, the shareholders have approved the
refreshment of the 10% scheme mandate limit under the
Scheme of the Company in the annual general meeting. On
16 September 2014, 81,100,000 share options were granted to
subscribe for a total of 81,100,000 new ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company to eligible
participants, subject to acceptance of the eligible
participants, under the share option scheme adopted by the
Company on 9 April 2009. Among the 81,100,000 Share
Options granted, a total of 9,350,000 Share Options were
granted to the Directors, chief executive and a substantial

shareholder.

25. BRERE(E)

RZT—=F+tA=1+H " BREEARFEF
AE EHOEE I AR B EIE T 2 10% 5+ 815
REMREE o RISADBIRE S LA - RIRFTE
AR R IR AT R IR (D B BTN S IR AR A A
T2 ERITRM 10% - BAREFEELEZ
BRI (B IEMARTTE Bl RIRBRE
FTEIE KRB BT 2 BERIE) ST EEA [
EHIBE - RZTE—HF—A=+HA &
BErEIEME ERA TR 2 BRERS KR
P& B 7 64,430,0008% - HERARREBZ
BT 8.37%  MABMIERITERE
ZHEREBBARARRKA0INREEBL
5,000,000 7T + BIZBEEAR D FIRRE STHE o
RZZE—MENAZ+HA BREEARER
FRE EHEFHAARGEIE T Z10%51E
BHERTE R —NWFNA+/8  AAF
RIER =Z T NEMA N B 2 B ER S
11 81,100,000 17 FE AR 4 - AT HLEREE AR D AR
7N 7 5 B% T {5 0.01 78 7T 2 37 2 3@ A% 81,100,000
RBBREERDEERMNTSAEE) o FTEEH
281,100,000 17 B Ak # H # & ££ 9,350,000 17 T5
BRYES FETRABR—BEERE -
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 25. BRESTE (&)
The following table discloses movements of the Company’s TREBENHZE-T—AF=A=1+—HLHF
share options granted under the Scheme during the year EREFEIRENARRRERE 2 25

ended 31 March 2015:

Number of share options
BREZA
Exercise At Granted Exercised Lapsed Ratify previous At
price 1 April during during during  lapsed share 31 March
Category Date of grant Exercise period per share 2014 the year the year the year option 2015
RZZ-D% ATRE N-B-1F
55 REAH bi:d:] SR1TEE mA-A ERR ERfifE ERXY  AWERE =R=1-A
Executive director 30 March 2012 30 March 2012 to HK$0.2552 6,300,000 - 6,300,000 - - -
30 March 2017 BT
H1E% ZT-ZFZASTR ZE3-ZFZR=TRZ
“F-+%=A=1H
Independent non-executive 30 March 2012 30 March 2012 to HK$0.2552 1,000,000 - 1,000,000 - - -
directors 30 March 2017 BT
BUFNES ZZ-C§ZR=tH  ZT-ZE=RZ1RZ
“2-+%=f=1A
Consultants 30 March 2012 30 March 2012 to HK$0.2552 24,200,000 - 24,200,000 - - -
30 March 2017 B
BR “3--#=A=tR ZE-Z£zA=tHEZ
“5-tEZA=1A
Executive director 24 January 2014 24 January 2014 to HK$0.1824* 6,500,000 - 500,000 - - 6,000,000
23 January 2019 BT
#1183 “5-WE-A-tHR —E-RE-A-1MAZE
ZE-NE-At=R
Non-executive director 24 January 2014 24 January 2014 to HKS0.1824* 2,600,000 - - - - 2,600,000
23 January 2019 B
HES “E-ME-F-tMA —T-RE-B-fEAZ
“E-NE-A=t=R
Independent non-executive 24 January 2014 24 January 2014 to HK$0.1824* 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
directors 23 January 2019 BT
BuFaEs “5-I5-A-tER —F-mF-A-tMAZ
“E-nE-A-t=R
Others 24 January 2014 24 January 2014 to HK$0.1824* 54,330,000 - - - - 54,330,000
23 January 2019 BT
2 “3-P5-A-tEA —Z-WE-B-tMAZ
ZE-NE-A=t=R
Executive director 16 September 2014 16 September 2014 to HK$0.1560* - 2,110,000 - - - 2,110,000
15 September 2019 BT
HES “E-WEARTRE ZE-REAATARE

“2-hWEAATER
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

25. BRERE(E)

Number of share options
RREHE
Exercise At Granted Exercised Lapsed Ratify previous At
price 1 April during during during  lapsed share 31 March
Category Date of grant Exercise period per share 214 the year the year the year option 2015
R=%-RE ATAE R-F-1F
£l RiAH 8 BRTEE BA-A FRRI ERf FREY  ANEBRE =A=t-B
Non-executive director 16 September 2014 16 September 2014 to HKS$0.1560¢ - 130,000 - - - 130,000
15 September 2019 B
FITES ZE-BEAATAE ZE-REARTABE
Z2-NENATER
Independent non-executive 16 September 2014 16 September 2014 to HKS0.1560¢ - 5,000,000 - - = 5,000,000
directors 15 September 2019 BT
BUIENTES “ETMEAATAR ZE-WEARTABE
“T-NENATAR
Others 16 September 2014 16 September 2014 to HKS$0.1560¢ - 73860000 - - - 73860000
15 September 2019 BT
Eft ZZ-MEARTAR ZE-BEART/RE
“T-WEAATER
Total &zt 95930000 81100000 32,000,000 - - 145,030,000

As at the date of grant, the exercise prices of the share options
were HK$1.824 and HK$1.56. The exercise prices were adjusted
to HK$0.1824 and HK$0.1560 following the share subdivision
on 2 January 2015 (note 23(g)).

The number and weighted average exercise price of the share
options exercisable at the end of the reporting period are
145,030,000 (2014: 95,930,000) and HK$0.1676 (2014:
HK$1.3089) respectively.

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share
options outstanding at the end of the reporting period is 4.2
years (2014: 4.2 years). The weighted average share price at
the date of exercise of options exercised during the year was
HK$1.7995 (2014: HK$1.73).

The total number of securities available for issue under the
share option scheme as at 31 March 2015 was 1,450,300,000
shares (2014: 95,930,000 shares) which represented 17.38% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March 2015
(2014: 12.42%).

3 R A BREZITEER 18248 TR
1.5687T0 - BT —AF— A= H#ETRHR
Witz - ITEEFARE0.1824 87T K% 0.1560 7%
7t (M3 23(g)) ©

¥R BR AT R RS AR 2 80 B RnfgF 1917
£ & % B £145,030,00015( = T — /g & :
95,930,000 ) % 0.16767% 7L( = Z — U £ :
1.30897%& L) °

IR E IR AR TE BB ARAE 2 I F RSB E LD
FHARLI2FE(ZT—F : 42F) - FRABTT
AR AT TE B B 2 INiEFHRR(E A 1.7995
B (ZZ—M4 : 1.73787T) °

RZZT—AF=A=1+—08 BEEEET
A 3817 2 5 4B 051,450,300,000 8% (= F
— PO : 95,930,000 %) f& 5 + #BE AR RIR
—E-RAFZA=T—RAZEETRA17.38%
(ZE—OF : 12.42%) °
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

On 16 September 2014, the Company issued equity-settled
share-based payments to certain directors and grantees as
compensation. Equity-settled share-based payments are
measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non market-
based vesting conditions) at the date of grant. No vesting
condition was imposed and the share options were
exercisable immediate on grant date. The fair value of the
equity-settled share-based payments determined at the date
of grant and expensed when the share options accepted by
grantee. The total estimated fair value of the share option was
HK$72,592,000, which had been expensed in profit or loss and
credited in the share option reserve during the year
(2014:HK$51,216,000). The following significant assumptions
were used to derive the fair value using the Binomial option

pricing model:

1. an expected volatility range of 82.80 per cent (2014:
95.07 per cent);

2. expected annual dividend yield range equal to zero
(2014:zero);

3. the estimated expected life of the options granted
during the year is 5 years (2014: Syears); and

4. the quoted risk free rate with expected life of 5 years
were 1.44 per cent (2014: 1.35 per cent), which are
adopted to calculate the fair value of options granted
on 16 September 2014.

The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation
of expected share price returns, is based on a statistical

analysis of daily share prices over the last five years.

The Binomial option pricing model requires the input of
highly subjective assumptions. As changes in subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimated, in
the Directors’ opinion, the existing model does not
necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value

of the share options.
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R=ZZT—MFENA+H RARAETES
RAER AL EREE RN EATHE -
R A E AR AN L B EIIR A FERT 2
(TBEEUEMSAER Y BBIRUHZHE) -
AR 4 B 00 () 55 BB i+ T B AR AT P A
HABNEIT( - A E ARG IR Z A FER
B BHER  WREARAZERBRER S
He FAN BRBEZEHEFTATFTERLE
72,592,000 TE KRB =P K - W AR
HERFE(ZZT—HF 51,216,000 )  F

ZHEA R EEEXGTEATEREERANUT
BARE

1. TEHIKIEEE 582.80%( —ZF — P4 :
95.07%) :

2. HHBREFEXHEHEERN
F:2);

T(ZE2—mH

3. FACREBREBRGFHASF(=F
—MF : 5%F) : Rk

4. BEAERZZ—EENATAAMAED
BRI AT EMRENTEFHARSF
ZERBRAR5144% (=T — 4 :
1.35%) °

BB AR BER £ 8 2R EER
WBETS S ARE G A AEE -

:IEEQ,HH%E{Eﬁ‘ﬁﬁfﬁﬁkmfzéﬁﬁj*“'
BREEMHERKE ARIBHBARREE
EEHATERBTENERATE E&é%a
BABEARGARHASEE— Jrg,ﬁ\%ﬁx@%A
BZ2755



China Investment Development Limited o #EI#% & FZEGR QA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Aok 1 T 25 3 o B
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26. NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 26.

Net asset value per share is calculated by dividing the net

27.

assets included in the consolidated statement of financial
position of approximately HK$189,067,000 (2014: net assets of
HK$141,829,000) and the number of ordinary shares in issue
as at 31 March 2015, being 8,342,514,870 (2014 (represented):
7,724,507,600).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 27.

(a)

Compensation of key management personnel, including
the directors and other members of key management,

during the year is as follows:

BREEFE

BREEFERTAGEUBERARZBEEF
549189,067,0008 7t (=T — M4 : BEFE
141,8290008 L) B AR =T —AF = A
=+ —HZBEETEBREA 8342,514,870 %
(ZZE—WF (FF) : 7,724,507,6004%) 51 & -

AEALTRS
() *EEBAS(BEEFREMIELE
AB)ERBSHIIMT -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - =285 R EWFIZE

2015 2014
—ZE-EHF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHTT
11,070 17,368

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in

note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

EHREEMe 2E— P RBEREAH
TEIRERMIFE14 -
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 27. BEALRS (#)
FR - AEBGRBEATITIATR

(b) During the year, the Group entered into the following (b)
transactions with related parties:

5

2015 2014
Name of related party Nature of transaction —E-AHF — T
BEALTER RHME HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET AT
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited Investment manager fee 720 720
("China Everbright”) (note (i))
RENXAZ S (BE)ARAR] REKEER
(TR R 1) (BT )
China Everbright Placing commission fee - 182
HEEA RERSER
China Everbright Broker commission charge 982 312
HEEA KaRek®E
China Everbright Interest expenses 43 37
FEIA FEFRX
Jade Bright Limited/Deng Li (note (ii)) ~ Share of office lease expenses - 4,800
RPFR AT B (5T (i) DMEZHAERESHRE
Interest expense on borrowing - 2

BEMSRX
Notes:

(i) On 30 April 2012, the Company entered into an
investment management agreement with China
Everbright, the new investment manager of the
Company, for a period of three years effective from 1
May 2012. The annual investment manager's fee payable
to China Everbright is HK$720,000 (2014: HK$720,000).

(ii) Jade Bright Limited, a shareholder of the Company, and
Mr. Deng Li, a director of Jade Bright Limited had
undertaken to share of the office rental and building
management expenses during the year ended 31 March
2014.
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R-Z——&FMA=1+H " AAFHEH
BB EE RN R HE BRI
# BT —FRAARER A
H=F - BFEMTENXAZRELE
B M /720000% (= F — M 4 -
720,000 7T) °

ARBBRRBAERABRBRAFRA
AESEHNALEEAHNEE_T I
FZAZ+HLFESERAETES
RIEFEEHRE ©
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RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
all eligible employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of the
Group (the employer) and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. The contributions from each of the
employer and employees are subject to a maximum
contribution of HK$1,500 per month with effective from 1
June 2014 (2014: HK$1,250) and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the

contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated income
statement amounted to approximately HK$64,000 (2014:
approximately HK$54,000), representing contributions
payable to the MPF Scheme by the Group in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2015.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
At the end of reporting period, the minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases for leased premise

are payable as follow:

28.

29.

BIREFGE

RE@RRARFEDBRSAIEONEMBEE
BRESEE2HEFEHZ A EATESE
(lgfEestall) - BReECEERAEH
ZEESH  ARETAZFZESES - BRE
Zitgl AEE(REx) REEESERRBEER
ZHA(EERABMEARETEEH) Z 5%
BARBRBSTEELHER - BT —FN
A—HE BEREESAZHXE=AETA
1,500 T (ZF — M4 : 1,250/87T) * gz
R E B FE o W ES WL FRUARL D 2R 4F R 2

K o

st AR M ER P 2 HR @ ERA)64,0008 7T (=
T - X)54000/87T) - HEAEEREE
TE-AF=A=t+—RHIFEEMNREDE

B2 R e

REHEARE
RIEHR - BB AT E S EREE
¥Rz RERSFEMT :

GROUP COMPANY
FEE EAH
2015 2014 2015 2014
—E-HF —FT-WE —T-HF _—T@OF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTEx THET TRET THET

Within one year
In the second to fifth year

inclusive

E_FEELF
(BREEEME)

1,707 1,713 1,580 1,580

1,580 3,160 1,580 3,160

3,287 4,873 3,160 4,740
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30.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

30. RERB D2 BEERMBRER

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY z
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair TRINRWFINFTREAEEMBEERE
values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as defined BEZRABRATAE :
in note 4(f):
GROUP
rEE
2015 2014
—E-RfF —E-mE
Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount Fair value
BREE AF{E FREE NEE
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE T FAT FAT
Financial assets BMBEE
Available-for-sale financial A HEPKEE
assets 61,541 61,541 14,900 14,900
Fair value through profit or loss: A {Ez AZE
B
— Designated at initial — I HERRIEE
recognition 21,832 21,832 7,513 7,513
— Held for trading —R’{EEE 7,298 7,298 20,282 20,282
Loans and receivables: B R EYRIE
— Other receivables, deposits — EfEUFIE - 24
and prepayments MIER FRIA 89,795 89,795 21,643 21,643
— Bank and cash balances — BT RIREEF 2,193 2,193 73,083 73,083
Financial liabilities BkaE
Financial liabilities measured REHKATEZ
at amortised cost W% aE (1,098) (1,098) (3,197) (3,197)
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30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. REHE P2 EEERMKEEM
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY E (&)
(continued)

COMPANY
PN
2015 2014
—E-AE ZE
Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount Fair value
IREE AFE FREE N¥E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FE T FAET FAET
Financial assets BB EE
Available-for-sale financial A ERKEE
assets 44,036 44,036 - -
Fair value through profit or loss: 22 F{EF AZE
B
— Designated at initial — I HERRIEE
recognition 21,832 21,832 7,513 7,513
— Held for trading —R’{EEE 7,298 7,298 20,282 20,282
Loans and receivables: BN ENRIE
— Other receivables, deposits — E b fEUEIE « 74
and prepayments MIERFRIA 89,784 89,784 21,634 21,634
— Amounts due from — FEUSH B A B EIE
subsidiaries 14,744 14,744 34,338 34,338
— Bank and cash balances — RITEB & 2,160 2,160 73,074 73,074
Financial liabilities BKaE
Financial liabilities measured IR R A 2 2
at amortised cost e (1,097) (1,097) (3.179) (3.179)
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30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

(continued)

The following table provides an analysis of financial

instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy:

30. RERB D2 BEERMBRER

TRINTNEBEAFEEEFE D
ETEDHT :

E (&)

AR SHEFIE 2 B

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
F— HAEEXBE 2 FRMIGHRE CREFHE)
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
EFH/ BE(AMER) EZ (AREBER)NEEXBEZIBSRAZSE  MIFEE—RMAERERE: &
Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
B=: WIHERAIBEMGEBENEESBE 2B AR (T BR 2B ASE)
Group
rEH
2015
—E-RF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
- -t F=R, Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TBT F#&xT FH&xT
Available-for-sale financial AHENBEE
assets
— Private equity securities — MBS - - 61,541 61,541
Financial assets at fair value  RAFEtAEIEZ
through profit or loss BREZMBEE
— Listed equity securities — FmiREES 7,298 - - 7,298
— Investments in convertible — RER R E S
bonds - - 21,832 21,832
7,298 - 83,373 90,671
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30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. REFE P 2HBEERTBEEH
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY E (&)
(continued)

Group
REHE
2014
eSS
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE—HR F_H F= #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Available-for-sale financial THENBEE
assets
— Private equity securities — FLERERE S - - 14,900 14,900
Financial assets at fair value B AFEF ALEER
through profit or loss RECHEEE
— Listed equity securities — FTREES 20,282 = = 20,282
— Investments in convertible ~ — X ER AR ES
bonds - - 7,513 7,513
20,282 - 22,413 42,695
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30.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. BERE DU KEERIKEEH
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY E(E)
(continued)
COMPANY
PN
2015
—Z—EHF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& F=R B=HK E-E
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FE T THET THET
Available-for-sale financial HENMKEE
assets
— Private equity securities — MEREES - - 44,036 44,036
Financial assets at fair value B AFEF AKEER
through profit or loss RECHEEE
— Listed equity securities — FTREES 7,298 - - 7,298
— Investments in convertible ~ — IR ER AR ES
bonds - - 21,832 21,832
7,298 - 65,868 73,166
COMPANY
PN/
2014
—Z O
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—1R FR F=R #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FAT AT
Financial assets at fair value  ZAF{E AKEES
through profit or loss BREZHBEE
— Listed equity securities — TR REE A 20,282 - - 20,282
— Investments in convertible  — BERAIHARES
bonds - - 7,513 7,513
20,282 - 7,513 27,795
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30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 30. RERES M KEERMEAER
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY E(E)
(continued)
Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value RIBEEA NI B RG ABIE (E=F) LA ATE
based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as FEMB S EE 2 ¥R
follows:
GROUP £ H

Financial assets
at fair value  Available for
through  sale financial
profit or loss: assets:
Investments in  Investments in
convertible unlisted equity

bonds securities Total
BRAFESAE e

BEEEZ MREE :
HMHEE - RE  REWREELS

RABRRES R AEE % #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FTHERT THET
At 1 April 2014 RZZ—WFMA—H 7,513 14,900 22,413
Redemption fEm (6,600) - (6,600)
Purchases By 20,000 37,492 57,492
Total gain B e
— in profit or loss (note (a)) — AE2S (F3E (@) 919 - 919
— in other comprehensive income — REMEE WS
(note (b)) (P (b)) - 9,149 9,149
At 31 March 2015 RZE—RF=A=+—H 21,832 61,541 83,373
Gain recognised in profit or loss RSB RHRE B E
relating to financial instruments EREPFTBIA
held by the Group at the end of i iR 2 e
reporting date 919 - 919
At 1 April 2013 RZZE—=FMA—H 21,140 - 21,140
Redemption fEm (14,800) = (14,800)
Purchases BE = 16,390 16,390
Total gain/(loss) iz (EE)
— in profit or loss (note (a)) — NER (s () 1,173 - 1173
— in other comprehensive —REMEERE
income (note (b)) (B3 (b)) = (1,490) (1,490)
At 31 March 2014 RZZ—MFE=A=+—H 7,513 14,900 22,413
Gain recognised in profit or loss FAKBRHRE B E
relating to financial instruments ERE R TA
held by the Group at the end of R IR 2 e
reporting date 1,173 - 1,173
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30.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

(continued)

30. RERE DM BEERMBRER

E (&)

COMPANY 74 7]

Financial assets

at fair value  Auvailable for
through  sale financial
profit or loss: assets:

Investments in

Investments in

convertible unlisted equity
bonds securities Total
BAFETTARE AHE
BREEZ BBEE:
BBEE : RE RENF LT
R R &S IRAEE S #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT FTHET
At 1 April 2014 R-E—=FHA—H 7,513 - 7,513
Redemption L (6,600) - (6,600)
Purchases BE 20,000 37,492 57,492
Total gain e
— in profit or loss (note (a)) — RiES (M5 @) 919 - 919
— in other comprehensive — RE b2 K
income (note (b)) (EA)) - 6,544 6,544
At 31 March 2015 R-ZE—HF=A=+—H 21,832 44,036 65,868
Gain recognised in profit or loss AR BN RS H
relating to financial instruments BRI B IR
held by the Company at the end of RIBERRER 2 W
reporting date 919 - 919
At 1 April 2013 R-ZZE—=FWA—H 21,140 - 21,140
Redemption fE o (14,800) = (14,800)
Total gain Bl
— in profit or loss (note (a)) — R8sz (M1 @) 1173 = 1173
At 31 March 2014 R_ZE—WF=A=+—H 7,513 - 7,513
Gain recognised in profit or loss RARRR S HH
relating to financial instruments BRI B IR
held by the Company at the end of RBERRER 2
reporting date 1,173 - 1,173
Notes: MH5E
(@  Included in the change in fair value of and net realised gain/ @ FIARATFEFAEEREEMBEEQT
(loss) on disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit BEZEPHRHERATFEAACERREEZH
or loss. BEEZBER K (BR)FE -
(b) Included in the other comprehensive income related to b) FTABBRESEHzEMEEEKE -

investment revaluation.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group'’s major financial instruments include equity
investments, other receivables, other payables, borrowing
and amount due to directors. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are set out
below. Management monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.

Interest rate risk

Except for the cash and cash equivalents which carry floating
interest rate, the Group has no other significant interest-
bearing assets with floating rates. The Group’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of

changes in market interest rates.

Sensitivity analysis

Assuming the balance at 31 March 2015 was the amount for
the whole year, if the interest rate was 50 basis points higher
or lower and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2015 would
decrease or increase by HK$10,964 (2014: decrease or
increase by HK$365,415).

31.

BHEREEREREE

AEBTEVHTABERAKE - HMER
R HENFOR - BERENESHA -
ZEMB TR ZFBNEAMERE - BEZ
EMHTAZARRANEERNTHZERR
ZBUERHEIIMT - IR EERZERERIARR

B RBEREES BEG

e
BRIRERREFEMAFHFERFBIN - K&
B EEMAFB N R B ZEAMBEE °
AEFBRARRERSRERND DB ILNT
SRR o

BREDN
BRERN-_E—RAE=-A=t+—HAZ&EHB2F
JE 2 3RE8 » WA £ TR SO EELZ: - AT
BHMEBHAEFTE  AAEEBEE_T— A
F=A=1+—HILFEZBEZR DKL M
10,964 %7t (= F — P4 : 3 4> sk 38 N 365,415
BIT) °
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  31.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in

foreign operations.

Sensitivity analysis
The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
increase/decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong dollars, the

effect in the loss for the year is as follows:

BHEREERERBEK(E)

SMNE LB

REBEBBB  AXKEZEEEZIME
Rk - HhEZRBRKAARE(TARE]D -
SMNERBRIR B BINEBZRRAERS - B
REERBBEARIKEFE -

BRED T
TRINTAREEBTAE BB RF
EEBRTE 2 GUREDT :

GROUP
rEE
Impact of RMB
AR¥ZE
2015 2014
—ZE-EHF —T-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Increase/decrease in loss for the year N E EIEE N, 304 309
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For the year ended 31 March 2015 BBZ=Z—AF=A=+—HIFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
investments in convertible bonds, investments in PRC unlisted
equity securities and investments in Hong Kong listed equity
securities, which were classified as either available-for-sale
financial assets (note 18) or financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (note 19) on the consolidated statement
of financial position. To manage its price risk arising from
investments in financial assets, the Group diversified its

portfolio.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
(2014: 5%) change in the fair value of the financial assets with
all other variables held constant and based on their carrying
value amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the
available-for-sale investment, the impact is deemed to be on
the investment revaluation reserve and no account is given for
factors such as impairment, which might have impact on the

income statement.

Impact of
investments in
convertible bonds

31.

BHEREERERBEK(E)

RAEE R

AEEBAZRABRER - DRERGRMHE
ARRR P DR E] I EM B E E (RE18) 2R
NFHERFAEEREE 2 PBEE (19 2
ARRESERE - PRI LT BRAEFRE R
RBELTRAEBESFRE - REEREVBE
EMELERRER  AEEDREREAS -

BRED T
TRIPEMBEMBEESTE ZBERT -
BREMBEERNREHR 2 REAESEAE -
RFEFSRBEN(—F—TF : 5%) ZBRRE °
AL EMBEEMNS - BRZBHRE/KYE
KRESGHREBRTE - MILEEZBEMIR
EFARTERGR AR -

GROUP
T5E
Impact of
Impact of investment in
available for sale Hong Kong listed

financial assets equity securities

TRREFRE THENBEE BELTRE
ZEE Pl 7 BERECKE

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

B8 “T-NF -5 “T-F ZB-RF —“TMOF

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS$'000  HK$'000

TR TR TR TR TR TET

Increase/decrease in loss for the year KEEEBRLEN/FHL 1,092 376 - - 365 1,014

Increase/decrease in other equity reserve Hit R W - - 3,077 745 - -
Credit risk FERE

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.

AEBYESKEREERR
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 31. BIBEBEERERBEEK (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk REE T EE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors HREBRBDECARMNS - AL R
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed EEERATUZESRBSEEYKTE - U
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s RAEBEBEERFES  WHERSRE
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash BB E T —HEREEMS - A%
flows. With regard to 2014 and thereafter, the liquidity of the E2neEeFERRN B AEBHR R HIR
Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain EREURERETREETIRHEEES 2
adequate cash flow from operations and to raise funds BE T LARMBE TSR HR RS e o HL B A AHE o
through issue and allotment of new shares to meet its debt
obligations as they fall due.
The maturity profile of the Group and the Company's financial REBRARRRINRE AR M5 ER S
liabilities at the end of reporting period is as follows: AR :
GROUP
x5
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 1 year to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year Syears  cash flows amount
IEY S FRRRE
BERF= £ -FEIF RELR REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT TEL TERT
As at 31 March 2015 RZE-—AF=A=+—H
Other payables and accrued HitENFRER
charges e E R N/ATER 1,098 - 1,098 1,098
As at 31 March 2014 RZE-—NE=A=+—H
Other payables and accrued Hih 50 R
charges it ER N/AT &R 1,589 = 1,589 1,589
Amount due to a director EN—ZEE308 N/ATNER 1,608 - 1,608 1,608
3,197 - 3,197 3,197
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 31. BiEKREEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) REBESER(EF)
COMPANY
XRF
Weighted
average Total
effective Less than 1 year to undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year Syears  cash flows amount
itk S FRRRE
BERF= £ -FEIF REAR REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT TET TET
As at 31 March 2015 RZE-—AF=A=+—H
Other payables and accrued HitENFRER
charges [EFTE R N/ATER 1,097 - 1,097 1,097
As at 31 March 2014 RZE-WE=A=+—H
Other payables and accrued HithEfT5IE R
charges [EEtE R N/AT &R 1,571 = 1,571 1,571
Amount due to a director EN—ZEE08 N/ATNER 1,608 - 1,608 1,608
3179 - 3179 3,179
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32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY 32.

The Group's objectives of managing capital are to safeguard

ESEEBR
K‘é BzEeEEBBRNDREARELFEL

the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the

capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of

CABRBRRERE SRR SR MRS AT
Xﬂﬁﬁ R ERREENEBAREEARK
Ao BGERHFHBERGEE  AEEAHER
BRENZEEESE  MRREDER - #T
B sk & B B OB BB

dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,

issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

REEEAMREIZEME—  REEBBLE
REEETER o b R ABHHREERE
calculated as debts divided by total assets. Debts included SHHE o MRS BMOR KRR 15?1@%,\1
ENFIEREAER  EERENEER
ﬁﬁﬁ%#@{gmjﬁ?égﬁ/w@}ﬁi&mu@ﬁ% °

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors

capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is

other payables and accrued charges, borrowing and amount
due to directors and total assets included non-current assets
and current assets as shown in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as

follows:
GROUP
rEE
2015 2014
—S—F4E —HE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Debts E% 1,098 3,197
Total assets BEMHEE 190,165 145,026
Gearing ratio EEBEBLE 0.58% 2.20%
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33. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

On 3 June 2015, the Company entered into an
agreement with Mr. Cheung Siu Yu (“Buyer A"”), an
independent third party to the Company, pursuant to
which the Company agreed to dispose and Buyer A
agreed to acquire the entire equity interest in the
Perfect Worth Investment Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company at a consideration of
HK$37,000 settle by cash. The disposal was completed
on 3 June 2015.

On 3 June 2015, the Company entered into an
agreement with Mr. Lu Xianglong (“Seller A”) and Ms.
Sun Xueyun (“Seller B”), which are independent third
parties to the Company, pursuant to which (i) Seller A
has conditionally agreed to sell and the Company has
conditionally agreed to acquire 2% equity interest in the
Perfect Worth Investment Limited (“Target Company”);
(ii) Seller B has conditionally agreed to sell and the
Company has conditionally agreed to acquire 3% equity
interest in the Target Company. Upon the completion
of the acquisition, the Company would have 5% of
issued share capital of the Target Company. The total
consideration is HK$20,000,000.

The condition would be satisfied by the Company in the
following manner: (a) HK$8,000,000 shall be satisfied by
the Company issuing 24,242,424 consideration shares at
an issue price of HK$0.33 per share to Seller A; (b)
HK$5,000,000 deposit paid by the Company to Seller B
within 5 business days from the date signing the
agreement; (c) HK$7,000,000 payable in cash to Seller B
upon completion of the acquisition. The acquisition has
been completed on 26 June 2015.

34. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2015.

33. HEPRSEE

(a)

RZZE—RAFANA=H ' NARIEBF
E=FRNFRAE(TEFR I -
Bt AARREBELHEMEFFRERE
AR R Al & & M B8 A 7l Perfect Worth
Investment Limited 2 B # - KB &
37,0007 WBREXf - HERED
RZZE—AFA=ZHTK °

RZE—RAFNNA=ZH ' ZXAREBT
E=FEAEEE(EFR] REE=
ZE([BEHFZDETM - Bt )&
FHREGRGREEEMARRA KR
E 8 A Perfect Worth Investment Limited
(TERARIZ 2%k : R(NEAHZE
BRERELEMARRERERZREA
BERAZ3%RE - RIESEIETAK
B RNARR#EE BIEARZ5% B ET
&R - #8X{8 %% 20,000,000 7T °

RARBIRATHEAZHARE : @ AR
B IE T E G033 TmE ; F 3
724,242,424 X B R o X 1 H &
8,000,000 7T ; (b) AR RN ZR AT % B
HEssEEEARREH LI F RS
5,000,000 7T i (o) PAURiE 18 58 ik s
A8 7 2,3 38 4 7,000,000 7T © Ui
EEERZZ—RFAAZTNBEKX °

34. #tAEMBEHE
EEEER-F-AFAA-TABHERRE
RETIBBAB|* -
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Year ended 31 March
BE=BA=1t—HILEE

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—E-HF —“T-—NF —T—=F —T——F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT FET FET FET FET
RESULTS E35
Revenue g 227 257 764 2,786 3,480
Loss before income tax expense B B3 B S B Es 1R (88,885) (89,215) (8,972) (7,768) (13,283)
Income tax expense FT{S i - - - - -
Loss for the year attributable to VUNGIE 7= DN 3l
owners of the Company KEEEE (88,885) (89,215) (8,972 (7,768) (13,283)
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t—HLEE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
—B-HF —T-MFE —T-=F —T-——F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FHET FHET FHET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets FREBEE 68,346 21,578 6,802 24,207 7,160
Current assets MENEE 121,819 123,448 31,808 21,122 26,796
Current liabilities mENEE (1,098) (3,197) 4,519) (3,232 (10,031)
Non-current liabilities ERBAE - - = = (30,529
Total equity/(capital deficiencies) Wk HaEE  (BANE4L) 189,067 141,829 34,091 42,097 (6,604)
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